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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “directors”)
of Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited, (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present to
all shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) the audited
consolidated financial results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2021 (the “Financial Year”) with comparative figures for
the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Previous Financial Year”).

The business environment has been particularly challenging
during the year. The outbreak of COVID-19 in early of the year
2020 has blown the economy in the first half of the Financial
Year. Fortunately, the epidemic was soon contained by the
government through certain measures, including strict controls
of social activities. This has resulted in an increase in revenue
of approximately 4.18% from HK$14,580,000 in the Previous
Financial Year to HK$15,189,000 in the Financial Year.

Loss attributable to the owners of the Company decrease
to HK$204,939,000 for the Financial Year, a decrease of
HK$6,178,000 from the loss of HK$211,117,000 that was
recorded in the Previous Financial Year. The decrease in loss
was due to no loss was incurred on modification of convertible
bonds and loss on change in fair value of investments in
convertible bonds in the Financial Year. However, such reduction
in loss was partly eliminated by the increase in effective interest
expense on convertible bonds.
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OUTLOOK

Against the current situation of COVID-19 which leads to
economic uncertainties in the global environment and the
trade conflicts between China and US, we foresee that it will
take longer time before the trading of beauty equipment and
products business can fully recover.

The Group also engages in development a technology that
would allow insulin to be administered orally. Although the
timetable of the clinical trial was disrupted and temporarily
suspended by the outbreak of COVID-19, the first batch
of patients for the part B, phase Ill of the clinical trial has
commenced in the year of 2020. Based on the current
information available, the timetable to commercialise the product
will be adjusted to the mid of 2023.

The Company continues to actively pursue and review
cooperation, joint ventures, and investments with suitable
partners and will continue to focus on improving the Group’s
attractiveness and profitability as necessary to enhance
shareholder returns and the sustainable long-term development
of the Group as a whole.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of all the members of the Board, | would like to take
this opportunity to express my gratitude to the Shareholders and
business partners of the Group for their continued support and
trust during the past year, and my most sincere appreciation
to the directors, management, and staff at all levels for their
dedication, hard work, and contributions to the Group.

Jiang Nian
Chairman
Shanghai, 29 June 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWRE DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

Group Results

Revenue of the Group for the Financial Year amounted to
approximately HK$15,189,000, representing an increase of
approximately 4.18% as compared with the total revenue of
approximately HK$14,580,000 that was recorded in the Previous
Financial Year. The increase was mainly attributable to an
increase in business of the trading of beauty equipment and
products segment during the Financial Year. Loss attributable
to the owners of the Company decrease to HK$204,939,000 for
the Financial Year, a decrease of HK$6,178,000 from the loss
of HK$211,117,000 that was recorded in the Previous Financial
Year. The decrease in loss was due to no loss was incurred on
modification of convertible bonds and loss on change in fair
value of investments in convertible bonds in the Financial Year.
However, such reduction in loss was partly eliminated by the
increase in effective interest expense on convertible bonds.

Trading of beauty equipment and products

During the Financial Year, revenue arising from the trading of
beauty equipment and products amounted to approximately
HK$15,189,000, representing an increase of approximately
418% from the revenue in the amount of approximately
HK$14,580,000 that was recorded in the Previous Financial Year.
The trading revenue was improved gradually as the effect of the
surge of the COVID-19 pandemic in Previous Financial Year has
ebbed away.

Research and development

The in-process research and development project (the “In-
process R&D”) represented an in-process research and
development project involving an oral insulin product (the
“Product”).

Thus far, the Group has financed the research and development
segment with the Group’s internal resources but remains active
and open to other fund-raising and partnership activities to
further develop the Group’s portfolio and development.

The in-process R&D was recorded as intangible asset in Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position with carrying
value of HK$1,373,224,000. The management performs the
impairment assessment at the end of each reporting period.
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BUS' N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Research and development continueq)

The recoverable amount of the intangible asset is determined
based on fair value calculations which used cash flow
projections prepared by the management of the Group using
certain key assumptions. Key assumptions for the fair value
calculations were based on estimated cash inflows derived from
budgeted sales and gross margin which estimated based on the
expectations for the market development.

At the end of the Financial Year, the Directors of the Company
have performed impairment assessments on the intangible asset
by reference to the valuation conducted by Roma Appraisals
Limited, an independent qualified valuer. The recoverable
amount of the intangible asset is determined based on the
estimated fair value of the In-process R&D. Based on the
assessment, the recoverable amount of the Group’s intangible
asset is estimated to be higher than the carrying amount and
therefore the Directors of the Company considered that no
impairment is necessary as at 31 March 2021.

Prior to the commercialisation of the Product, the Group
will need to go through, among others, the following key
development stages: (i) execution of clinical trial testing; (ii)
data and outcome analysis; (iii) preparation of the outcome
report; (iv) entering into of production arrangement; (v) sourcing
of raw materials; (vi) possible marketing activities or pre-sales
preparation work; (vii) submission of the clinical trial report to
National Medical Products Administration; (viii) applying for the
new medicine certificate and the manufacturing permit.

The management of the Company is closely working with the
contract research organization (the “CRO”). The Part B of phase
[l clinical trials (the “Clinical Trial”) had registered in the Center
for Drug Evaluation, National Medical Products Administration
(“NMPA”) in October 2019.

The enrolment of the first batch of patients for the Clinical
Trial testing has commenced in July 2020. Currently, over 200
patients have been enrolled in selected participating hospitals to
take place in the Clinical Trial. The enrolment of patients will be
an ongoing process.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B RO

BUSI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Research and development continueq)

As at the date of this report, The Group has invited 23 hospitals
to participate in the Clinical Trial, of which 19 hospitals have
already accepted the invitation.

Due to the outbreak of the coronavirus pandemic since early
2020, the normal operations of the participating hospitals for
the Clinical Trial had been severely disrupted. In order to ensure
the safety of patients and clinical researchers, research projects
such as the Clinical Trial had been temporarily suspended
and as result there had been a delay in the selection and
enrolment of patients for the Clinical Trial. Based on the latest
information available to the Company, the Product is expected
to be launched in the market and available for sale at selected
hospitals by mid of 2023. The Group is expected to generate
a stable source of revenue and profit after the launch of the
Product taking into account that (i) there is massive demand in
the PRC for innovative insulin products in light of the growing
diabetic population; (ii) once the Product is launched, it is
expected to become the first oral insulin drug available in the
market; (i) the Product is expected to be sold at a reasonable
price range and will provide a superior and effective treatment
method for diabetes patients; and (iv) once the Product is
launched, it will be protected for a period of 5 years under the
current regulations in the PRC which prohibits other companies
from manufacturing and/or undergoing clinical trial for similar
products.

The Group will make further announcements depending on
situation and in accordance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) if there is any material development.
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BUS' N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Convertible bonds issued by the Company

The Company acquired 51% interest in the share capital of
Smart Ascent in the year of 2014. As part of the consideration
of the acquisition of Smart Ascent, on 28 July 2014, the
Company issued to Extrawell (the “Bondholder”) the convertible
bonds with 3.5% interest per annum for a conversion period
of 7 years from the date of issue in the principal amount of
HK$715,000,000 (the “Convertible Bond”). The interest was
originally paid annually.

On 26 July 2019, the Company and the Bondholder entered
into the amendment deed (the “Amendment Deed”) in which
the Company and the Bondholder have conditionally agreed
to amend the interest payment terms of the Convertible Bond
to the effect that i) the interest payment due dates would
be amended from payment of interest in arrears annually to
payment of interest for the period from 28 July 2018 to 27
July 2019, interest for the period form 28 July 2019 to 27 July
2020 and interest for the period 28 July 2020 to 27 July 2021
on or before 28 July 2021; and ii) the Company shall pay to
the Bondholder a sum of additional interest in the amount of
HK$11,261,250 on 28 July 2021 (representing 15% per annum
on the annual interest payment under the Convertible Bond
multiplied by three), being the additional interest for 2-year
extension for the payment of interest for the period 28 July 2018
to 27 July 2019 and 1 year extension for payment of interest for
the period 28 July 2019 to 27 July 2020.

The Amendment Deed was approved in special general meeting
held on 8 October 2019 and all conditions precedent under the
Amendment Deed have been fulfiled and those amendments
took effect from 28 October 2019.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Convertible bonds issued by the Company (continued)
On 12 May 2021, the Company and the Bondholder entered into
a second deed of amendment (the “Second Deed Amendment”)
pursuant to which the Company and the Bondholder have
conditionally agreed to amend the terms of the Convertible
Bonds (as amended by the Amendment Deed) (the “Second
Amendment”) to the effect that:

(@)

(o)

the Maturity Date shall be extended from 28 July 2021 to
28 July 2023;

the interest payment date of the Convertible Bond shall be
further amended and superseded as follows:

(i)

the Convertible Bond shall bear interest on the
principal amount thereof in accordance with the
following interest rate and payment schedule:
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2016
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28 July 2016 to
27 July 2017
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3.5% per annum on the principal amount of

the Convertible Bonds

BRABBRESAEEAEEFI.5%

On or before 28 July
2017

—E—+tF
+A=Zt+N\B& A

28 July 2017 to
27 July 2018

“EtFLAZTN\BE
—E-\FtHA-+LH
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the Convertible Bonds
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BUS' N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Convertible bonds issued by the Company (continued)

(if)

Management Discussion and Analysis
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the Company shall pay the Bondholder a sum of (iy AR A
additional interest in the amount of HK$3,753,750 on
28 July 2023 (representing 15% per annum on the
annual interest payment under the Convertible Bond),
being the additional interest for one-year extension for
payment of interest for the period from 28 July 2021

to 27 July 2022; and
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIREatam MO

BUSI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Convertible bonds issued by the Company (continued)
(b)  (continued)

(i) in addition to (ii) above, the Company shall pay the
Bondholder a sum of additional interest in the amount
of HK$25,900,875 on 28 July 2023 (representing 15%
per annum on the aggregate amount of interest and
the Additional Interest of HK$86,336,250 multiplied
by two). The Company and the Bondholder agreed
that the said amount of HK$25,900,875 is the
additional interest for two-year further extension for
payment of (a) the interest in the aggregate amount
of HK$75,075,000 for the periods from 28 July
2019, 2020 and 2021; and (b) the Additional Interest
mentioned in the Amendment Deed in the amount of
HK$11,261,250.

Save for the Second Amendment, the terms and conditions of
the Convertible Bond remain intact and unchanged.

The Second Amendment shall be conditional upon and subject
to:

(@ the approval having been obtained from the Stock
Exchange in respect of the Second Amendment;

(b) all necessary consents and approvals required to be
obtained on the part of the Company and the Bondholder
in respect of the Second Amendment having been obtained
and remained in full force and effect;

(c) the passing of the necessary resolution(s) by the
shareholders of each of the Company and the Bondholder
at a special general meeting of each of the Company
and the Bondholder to be convened and held to approve
the Second Deed of Amendment and the transactions
contemplated thereunder; and

(d) the Bondholder having passed a written resolution of
the bondholder meeting to approve the Second Deed
of Amendment and the transactions contemplated
thereunder.

The special general meeting (the “SGM”) will be held and
convened for the purpose of considering and, if though fit,
approving the Second Deed of Amendment and the transactions
contemplated thereunder.
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BUS' N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Convertible bonds issued by the Company (continued)
A circular containing, amongst other things, (i) further details
of the Second Deed of Amendment and the transactions
contemplated thereunder; and (ii) a notice of the SGM is
expected to be dispatched to the shareholders of the Company
on or before 3 July 2021 in accordance with the Listing Rules.

PROSPECTS

Trading of beauty equipment and products

The major trading products of the Group are beauty equipment
and beauty products, and sales of these beauty equipment
and beauty products represent the major component that
contributes to the Group’s revenue.

Revenues and profit margins of the Group from the trading
segment have been relatively stable in the past and trading
volume is the key determiner of the profitability of the segment.
However, the recent political issues in Hong Kong and the trade
conflicts between China and US will have an unpredictable
impact on the economy in Hong Kong and China. Furthermore,
the COVID-19 global pandemic has affected the flow of goods
and services of our trading activities and have negative effect on
the Group’s trading business turnover and projects. The Group
anticipates that the trading business will pick up gradually when
the effect of the COVID-19 becomes new normal. The Group
will cautiously explore the trading business in Hong Kong and
China. The Group will reinforce our risk management policy and
will proactive in adopting timely measures to balance its risk and
return in the long run. The Group competes by offering trading
terms that are more favourable to its suppliers and vendors
compared to the Group’s competitors.

Research and development

The Clinical Trial testing of the Product for the first group
has commenced in July 2020. Due to the outbreak of the
coronavirus pandemic, the timetable for obtaining the Certificate
of New Medicine and the Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Permit,
subject to the approval of NMPA and generating revenue of the
Product has been adjusted from the late second quarter of 2022
and fourth quarter of 2022 to late fourth quarter of 2022 and mid
of 2023, respectively.

To further ensure that the Product will be able to commercialise
by mid of 2023, the Group will work closely with the CRO and
strengthen the project team so that relevant personnel of the
project team will regularly monitor the progress and make
regular reports to the management of the Company so as to
ensure the In-process R&D can be completed according to the
Group’s schedule.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital structure

Authorised: JERE
50,000,000,000 ordinary shares of

Bt % [0 8
EERE

31 March
2021
—E_—F

=HA=+—H
HK$’000
FE T

31 March
2020

) ? ) ﬂi
=A=+—8H
HK$’000

TE T

50,000,000,000 /% & f% H {E0.01

HK$0.01 each (the “Shares”) BrzEBR(RKRHE) 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BERITEEHT:
1,464,193,024 Shares 1,464,193,024 % f& 15 14,642 14,642
Liquidity and financial resources REBEERUKEER

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had bank and cash balances
of approximately HK$9.0 million (31 March 2020: approximately
HK$22.9 million).

As at 31 March 2021, total borrowings of the Group were
approximately HK$1,037.3 million (31 March 2020: approximately
HK$835.7 million) which reflected the debt value of the
Company’s unconverted convertible bonds, lease liabilities,
amounts due to non-controlling interests, amounts due to former
non-controlling interest, loans from a substantial shareholder,
amount due to a former associate, loan from a former associate
and loan from a non-controlling interest.

The ratio of current assets to current liabilities of the Group was
0.04 as at 31 March 2021 as compared to the 0.60 as at 31
March 2020. The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 March 2021 was
0.75 (31 March 2020: 0.60) which is calculated based on the
Group’s total liabilities of approximately HK$1,044.5 million (31
March 2020: approximately HK$851.1 million) and the Group’s
total assets of approximately HK$1,403.2 million (31 March
2020: approximately HK$1,418.9 million).

The Group places importance on security, short-term
commitment, and availability of the surplus cash and cash
equivalents.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (coniinueq)

Significant acquisition and investments
The Group had no significant investments, nor had it made any
material acquisition or disposal of the Group’s subsidiaries or
associated companies during the Financial Period.

Charges on the Group’s assets
As at 31 March 2021, the Group and the Company did not have
any charges on their assets (31 March 2020: nil).

Foreign exchange exposure

The monetary assets and liabilities and businesses of the Group
are mainly conducted in Hong Kong Dollars, Renminbi, and
United States Dollars. The Group maintains a prudent strategy
in its foreign exchange risk management, with the foreign
exchange risk being minimised through balancing the foreign
currency monetary assets against foreign currency monetary
liabilities, and foreign currency revenue against foreign currency
expenditure. The Group did not use any financial instruments to
hedge against foreign currency risk during the Financial Year.
The Group will continue to monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and consider hedging foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

Number and numeration of employees

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 27 full time employees
(81 March 2020: 29), most of whom work in the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC. It is the Group’s policy that the
remuneration of employees and Directors are in line with
the market and commensurate with their responsibilities.
Discretionary year- end bonuses are payable to the employees
based on individual performance. Other employee benefits
include medical insurance, retirement schemes, training
programmes, and education subsidies.

Total staff costs including the Directors’ remuneration for
the Financial Year amounts to approximately HK$8.1 million
(Previous Financial Year: approximately HK$7.9 million).

Segment information
Details of the segment information are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Financial Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE sTam M oA

BY %5 B B8 ()

BERRBREERE
AEFBRAY BB ETMEKRNIKE -
NEERTMEAWESHERNEEHE
NAHBERNB 21TA

ﬂK%lﬁE?ﬂBﬁ

E/\ T_—F=A=+—H XEEEX
7IET?ET—J§§TE§W(_7_7¢ A
:+ H:&)o

Sh BE = B
AEBzEMEERBBEAREBEE
B ARBERETTHETT ° KEIQE%
ERBREEEFTFIERE  XFE B
HNEE B FE B ONES B B A T2 SN EE UK 25 BB AN
A RENERR - RATBREE - A&
llﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬂlﬂﬁﬁ%%ﬂh°
AEBBEEZ Y ERIINERR - WHER
EZBEEEEFINERER -

EE A8 K &M

R-E-_—F=F=+—"H K&EEH27
Z(ZE-ZTF=A=1+—H:29%)2 %
BE  KEOHUEBARBNFEZH B
RNAl c REBzRENRERERESZZHMM
BEMS B WEFSHERT - BIS
FRIEATIBRBEEARBEMAES I -
HibEERABEEERE  BIKE -
T RRERREED -

N

RAFHRFEZETIHEKK(BIEEE M

%) #)/48,100,0008 7t (£ — BT FE : &
7,900,000 7T) °

o EE R

DEHER ZHBHNGE AT ERERM T
7 o

BE HEfBEOAQTZ L

™ & 35
RARUER  ARTREETHBERT

BMEREE  LEBERAQREM LTE
# o
S Q§
20216 EMBERLEVNBERLIT 15
G, .



Management Discussion and Analysis
BIREatam MO

VIEWS OF THE BOARD AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE ON THE AUDITOR’S OPINION

The auditor expressed a disclaimer of opinion in the independent
auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the ended 31 March 2021 (the “2021 Disclaimer
Opinion”). Please refer to section headed “Extract from
Independent Auditor’'s Report” in this annual report for more
details.

The management of the Company and the board of the
Company (the “Board”) had discussed with the auditor in
respect of the 2021 Disclaimer Opinion and understood that the
2021 Disclaimer Opinion relates solely to going concern.

Due to the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$771,873,000 as at 31 March 2021. The management of
the Company has been pursuing the following measures and
arrangement to meet the Group’s financial obligations as
and when they fall due within the next year form the date of
consolidated financial statements.

1. The Company had obtained a confirmation from the
Group’s former associate that shall not demand for
repayment of the amount of approximately HK$41,947,000
as at 31 March 2021 for a period of at least 12 months
form 29 June 2021.

2. The Company had obtained the financial support of the
substantial shareholder and confirm in written that agreed
to provide the Company with sufficient financial support
to enable the Company to meet to obligations to third
parties as and when they fall due and to continue as going
concern.

3. The Company and Extrawell Pharmaceutical Holdings
Limited (“Extrawell” or the “Bondholder”), the former
associate of the Company, entered into the Second Deed
of Amendment on 12 May 2021. Pursuant to the Second
Deed of amendment, the Company and Extrawell have
conditionally agreed to amend the terms of the convertible
bond to effect that: (i) the Maturity Date shall be extended
from the original maturity date to 28 July 2023; and (ii) the
interest payment date of the convertible bonds shall be
further amended.
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The Second Amendment shall be conditional upon and subject
to:

(@ the approval having been obtained from the Stock
Exchange in respect of the Second Amendment;

(b) all necessary consents and approvals required to be
obtained on the part of the Company and the Bondholder
in respect of the Second Amendment having been obtained
and remained in full force and effect;

(c) the passing of the necessary resolution(s) by the
shareholders of each of the Company and the Bondholder
at a special general meeting of each of the Company
and the Bondholder to be convened and held to approve
the Second Deed of Amendment and the transactions
contemplated thereunder; and

(d) the Bondholder having passed a written resolution of
the Bondholder’s meeting to approve the Second Deed
of Amendment and the transactions contemplated
thereunder.

On the basis of the foregoing, and after assessing the Group’s
current and forecasted cash positions, the Directors are satisfied
that the Group will be able to meet in full the Group’s financial
obligations as they fall due for the period of twelve months from
the date of consolidated financial statements.

The Company and Extrawell are preparing the circular and are
arranging the shareholders’ meeting to approval the Second
Deed of Amendment. The Board considered if the conditions
precedent of the Second Deed of Amendment, including the
shareholders’ approval of the Company and Extrawell in the
special general meeting, are fulfilled, the Group will be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due for the period of
12 months from the date of consolidated financial statements.
Hence, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the going concern basis.

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the
management and the Board’s position and concurred with the
position of the management to the 2021 Disclaimer Opinion and
the basis thereof.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIREatam MO

The auditors considered that the conditions precedent of
the Second Deed of Amendment including the shareholders’
approval of the Company and Extrawell in the special general
meeting are not yet fulfilled at the date of the consolidated
financial statements. The outcome for the completion of the
Second Amendment have uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Hence, the auditors expressed a disclaimer of opinion on the
material uncertainty related to going concern in the auditor’s
report.

Based on the discussion with our auditor, we understand that in
order to resolve the audit modification, the conditions precedent
of Second Deed of Amendment, including the shareholders’
approval of the Company and Extrawell, should be fulfilled, and
the transaction is completed.

The Company and Extrawell are preparing the circular and are
arranging the shareholders’ special general meeting to approval
the Second Deed of Amendment. The Company and Extrawell
expect the special general meeting of the shareholders to
approve the Second Deed of Amendment will be held in July
2021 and all the conditions precedent can be fulfilled by the end
of July 2021.

The Company had discussed with the auditor about the removal
of the 2021 Disclaimer Opinion in respect of the consolidated
financial statements in the coming year. The Company is of the
view that if all the conditions precedent of the Second Deed of
Amendment are fulfilled, the Company will be able to meet in full
the Group’s financial obligations as they fall due for the period
of twelve months from the date of the consolidated financial
statements. Then the going concern issue will be removed. The
2021 Disclaimer Opinion do not affect the consolidated financial
statements in the coming year. Hence, there will no longer be
any disclaimer of opinion or qualified opinion in this regard in the
next year’s auditors’ report.

"ma}

g 18 . INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2021 Annual Report

Y

<

GRS RNEAMBHREREM £
MERT Rig 2 SR G (BREARE M
BZRREBRRRFERI KNS LA E) W RE
B TEE —RIERIC EREFENEE
M ARSI ARERELEZRENE
EEAERE - Bt - R AR RS
TRESELLEEHENERTEEEIEL
TEXRER -

RIFEZBE 2w - RPIFE - REER
BRIER  BRE BT REZ ARG
H(BREARR RAGE 2 BRI ) B =
B ABETERRS

ARFAREBECREBE - ERHR
FA® - AL E IS RIS - AR
RABES - SiEE s RES B
REBAGHR-T-—F+ AR M
BRI =B AR
A -

RRABERNR T —FEGEEHBHRERAEL
BRI EXRBREEEZEMS
o ANRRIRG > BE _METREZAH
BRRGHEENX  AARKAIZHEETT
AEBHEEMBHRERABET @A
RPN BEE  MEELEHES
SHK  — T —FAERBRAUTITE
T—FEZHZEAMB®RE - At - T —F
Bz MBsi TBAEEATHRER
SZRBEER -



The Company has adopted and complied with all the code
provisions as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the
“Code”) during the Financial Year, except for the deviations
discussed below.

Code provision A.2.1

Ms. Jiang Nian is the chairman of the Group. As at the date of
this report, no suitable candidate has been identified and the
role of chief executive officer remains vacant. The Company is
continually looking for a suitable person to assume this role.

Code provision A.4.1

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term and should be subject to
re-election.

The Company has deviated from the Code provision A.4.1.
Except for one of the independent non-executive Director has
been appointed for a specific term and is subject to re-election,
other non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors were not appointed for specific term but are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at least once every three
years in accordance with the provision of the Company’s Bye-
laws. As such, the Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to serve the purpose of this Code provision.

The Directors believe that, despite the absence of specified
terms for non-executive Directors, the Directors are committed
to representing the long-term interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIREatam MO

Code provision E.1.5

Code provision E.1.5 stipulates that the Company should
have a policy on payment of dividends. The Company has not
established a dividend policy as the Company considers it more
appropriate to determine a dividend payment after taking into
account those factors including the Company’s then financial
performance, operating and capital requirements and market
conditions, to enable the Company be in a better position to
cope with its future development, which is to the best interest of
the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Code Provision A.5.1, Listing Rule 3.10(1), 3.10A,
3.21 and 3.25

Following the resignation of Dr. Zhang Zhihong, an independent
non-executive director, on 11 November 2020, the Company
has (i) two independent non-executive Directors, which is below
the minimum requirements under Rule 3.10(1) and Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules; (i) two members of audit committee of
Company (the “Audit Committee”), which is below the minimum
requirement under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules; (iii) two
members of remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) but the position of chairman is
vacant and the Remuneration Committee does not comprise a
majority of independent non-executive directors, which do not
comply with the requirements under Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules; and (iv) two members of nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) but the position of
chairman is vacant, which does not comply with Code Provision
A.51.

With effect from 1 February 2021:

() Mr. Chen Jinzhong has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of each of the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee;

(i)  Mr. Wang Rongliang, an independent non-executive
Director, has been appointed as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee; and

(i) Ms. Jiang Nian, the chairman of the Board and a non-
executive Director, has been appointed as the chairman of
the Nomination Committee.
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Following the appointments of Mr. Chen Jinzhong, Mr. Wang
Rongliang and Ms. Jiang Nian with effect from 1 February 2021,
the Company will have (i) three independent non-executive
Directors, representing at least one-third of the Board, which
will be in compliance with Rule 3.10(1) and Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules; (ii) three members of the Audit Committee,
which will be in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules; (iii) a Remuneration Committee which will be chaired
by an independent non-executive Director and will comprise
a majority of independent non-executive Directors, which will
be in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules; and (iv) a
Nomination Committee which will be chaired by the chairman
of the Board and will comprise a majority of independent non-
executive Directors, which will be in compliance with Code
Provision A.5.1 of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 of Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code
of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. All
Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with the
Model Code throughout the Financial Year. No incident of non-
compliance was noted by the Company in the Financial Year.

Tang Rong
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
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Management Profile

TEEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing, aged 66, has been appointed as an
executive director with effect from 4 January 2016. From 15
March 2011 to 4 January 2016, Mr. Gao was the chairman and
executive director of North Mining Shares Company Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Gao previously worked in the foreign affairs office of
the Shanghai Municipal Government, and has had senior
management roles in numerous international, PRC investment,
and commercial companies.

Mr. Tang Rong, aged 54, has been appointed as an executive
director with effect from 29 September 2014. Mr. Tang
graduated from Fudan University in the People’s Republic
of China in July 1989 with a bachelor’s degree in science,
majoring in genetics and genetic engineering. He has been
an engineer of The Institute of Genetics of Fudan University
from November 1989 and has extensive experience in genetics
related technology development, commercialization and market
development. Mr. Tang successfully filed several patents in
China and published papers in many science magazines in
genetics related subjects. He was invited as the member of the
Committee of Experts of /&8 RE AR F T (Shanghai
Lianzhong Institute of Gene Technology) in 2000. Starting from
November 2010, Mr. Tang was appointed as the director of Gene
Testing Research and Development Department of Longmark
(Shanghai) Healthcare Limited and he has professional expertise
in gene testing and research and development.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Jiang Nian, aged 67, has been appointed as a non-
executive director and chairman of the Company with effect
from 21 December 2010 and 10 June 2011 respectively. Ms.
Jiang is a member of the remuneration committee and the
chairman of nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Jiang
graduated from Z I EREBRRKEEEHREE (Junior College,
Provincial Campus of Anhui Radio and Television University) in
August 1986, majoring in Chinese Language and Literature. Ms.
Jiang was the Associate Dean of the School of Life Sciences of
Fudan University from June 2003 to April 2010. She also serves
as an authorised representative of Bt & EE £ E X AR A A
(United Gene Biomedical Limited). She has extensive experience
in general administrative management particularly in the field of
genomic research.

fﬁmug
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Ms. Xiao Yan, aged 41, has been appointed as a non-executive
director with effect from 22 May 2012. Ms. Xiao graduated
from the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics with a
pbachelor’s degree in Accounting in 2007. Ms. Xiao has served
as an administrative manager of the chief executive, Dr. Xie,
in BEAERARHERAF (United Gene Technology Holdings
Limited) since 2002. Ms. Xiao has extensive experience in
medical services and general administration. From December
2011 to November 2012, she served as the finance manager
of CNL (Pinghu), which is an indirectly owned subsidiary of the
Company.

Ms. Wu Yanmin, aged 44, has been appointed as a non-
executive director with effect from 8 June 2011. Ms. Wu
graduated from the School of Life Sciences, Shanghai University
in 1999 with a bachelor’s degree in biochemistry. Ms. Wu joined
Bt A EREFR B ARADA (United Gene Technology Holdings
Limited), a genetic engineering company substantially owned by
Dr. Mao Yumin (“Dr. Mao”) indirectly, in 2001 and was responsible
for general administrative duties. Since 2006, Ms. Wu has served
as an assistant to the chairman of United Gene Holdings Limited,
and is responsible for assisting the chairman in handling various
investment projects. Ms. Wu has extensive experience in general
administrative and investment management. Starting from
December 2012, she was appointed as the finance manager of
CNL (Pinghu).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chen Weijun, aged 63, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director with effect from 6 November
2009 and is the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company. Ms. Chen is currently the manager in the business
department of Shanghai Ruihe Certified Public Accountants Co.,
Ltd.. She was formerly the finance supervisor of the companies
indirectly owned by Dr. Mao from April 2001 to June 2003. She
graduated from the Chinese Communist Party Central Party
College and has been a registered accountant in the PRC since
2005. She has more than 30 years of experience in accounting,
finance and audit services.

Mr. Wang Rongliang, aged 72, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director with effect from 8 June
2011 and is a member of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the Company.
Mr. Wang graduated from £/ W% — B T K2 (Shanghai
First Commercial Bureau Staff College) majoring in business
and economics. He acted as a deputy manager of /8t H%E
E fE 4 A PR QA (Shanghai 700 Group Advertising Company
Limited) from 1996 to 2005. Mr. Wang has extensive experience
in operation and administrative management.
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Management Profile
EREREE

Mr. Chen Jinzhong, aged 56, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director with effect from 1 February
2021 and is a member of the audit committle, the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company,
Mr. Chen holds a bachelor’s degree in clinical medicine from
the Central South University and a master’s degree in genetics
from the Huazhong University of Science and Technology. He
obtained his Doctor of Philosophy degree in genetics from
Fudan University. He was an assistant professor at Changjiang
University from 1991 to 1998 and an assistant professor at
Fudan University from 2004 to 2006. He has been an associate
professor at Fudan University from 2006 and up to the present.
Mr. Chen has over 25 years of experience in the genetics field
and in research and development.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there is no relationship between
any members of the Board, and no information relating to the
directors which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rules
13.51(2) and 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT

Mr. Poon Hon Yin, aged 55, has been appointed as the
company secretary, financial controller and an authorised
representative of the Company with effect from 14 May 2013.
Mr. Poon is qualified as a Certified Public Accountant registered
with the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
is also a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Poon has been a managing director of Probiz
CPA Limited since 2006.
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External Consultant Profile

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Dr. Mao Yumin, aged 69, has been engaged as the chief
scientific adviser and honorary chairman of the Company since
1 September 2010, responsible for providing advisory and
consultancy services to the Group in relation to the research
and development of its genetic testing products and other
scientific technologies. Dr. Mao is a substantial shareholder of
the Company. He was a member of the Consultant Committee
of Fudan University, the dean of the School of Life Sciences
and Institute of Genetics of Fudan University, and the director
of State Key Laboratory of Genetic Engineering in Fudan
University. Dr. Mao’s main area of research focuses on biological
and genetic engineering. Dr. Mao has accumulated extensive
experiences in operations in the genomic research based
industry.
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Corporate Governance Report
CEEARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the Financial Year, the Company adopted and has
complied with all the code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
(the “Code”) except for the deviations discussed below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions. All directors have
confirmed that they have fully complied with the Model Code
throughout the Financial Year. No incident of non-compliance
was noted by the Company in the Financial Year. Relevant
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance
with written guidance on no less exacting terms than the Model
Code throughout the Financial Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The composition of the Board during the Financial Year are set
out below:

Executive directors

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing

Mr. Tang Rong

Ms. Huang He (retired on 31 August 2020)

Non-executive directors
Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman)

Ms. Xiao Yan

Ms. Wu Yanmin

Independent non-executive directors

Ms. Chen Weijun

Mr. Wang Rongliang

Mr. Chen Jinzhong (appointed on 1 February 2021)
Dr. Zhang Zhihong (resigned on 11 November 2020)

Further details of the composition of the Board are set out in the
section headed “Management Profile” on pages 22 to 24.

The Board considers the balance between executive directors
and non-executive directors is adequate to safeguard the
Shareholders’ interests. Independent non-executive directors
can also provide the Group with diversified expertise and
valuable experience. Their independent advice can bring
independent judgment to the decision making of the Board and
bring new ideas to the formulation of corporate strategy.
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The directors oversee the financial performance and formulate
business strategies and determine the corporate governance
policy of the Group, as well as discuss any significant matters
relating to the Group at the Board meetings. Daily operational
matters are delegated to the management of the Group. The
Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
performance of the Company and considers and approves the
overall strategies and policies of the Group. During the Financial
Year, the Board held 6 meetings. The attendance of each
member at the Board meeting is set out as follows:

Executive directors BITES

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing =R E &

Mr. Tang Rong EREAE

Ms. Huang He =T
Non-executive directors FHITES

Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman) BERE(EE)
Ms. Xiao Yan EPo8 un

Ms. Wu Yanmin SRR+
Independent non-executive BYFHITES

directors

Ms. Chen Weijun PRIEA X+

Dr. Zhang Zhihong RERIE LT

Mr. Wang Rongliang TERBEE

Mr. Chen Jinzhong BREFEE

All directors, including independent non-executive directors,
have given sufficient time and effort to the affairs of the Group.

Code provision A.2.1

Code provision A.2.1 stipulate that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual.

Ms. Jiang Nian is the chairman of the Group. As at the date of
this annual report, no suitable candidate for the role of chief
executive officer has been identified and the role remains
vacant. The Company is continually looking for a suitable person
to assume this role.
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Corporate Governance Report
PERERWE

INDUCTION AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors’ training

All directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities
as directors and of the business and activities of the Group. As
such, briefings are provided and organised to ensure that newly
appointed directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their
legal and other duties and responsibilities as director as well as
the business and corporate governance practices of the Group.

Pursuant to Code A.6.5 of the Code, directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. For the
period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021, all directors have
participated in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by ways of attending training or reading material
relevant to the Company’s business or to the directors’ duties
and responsibilities.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, trainings received by each
director are summarised as follows:

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing =R EL &
Mr. Tang Rong EREAE
Ms. Huang He S pSen
Ms. Jiang Nian BELL
Ms. Xiao Yan ERoE Gun
Ms. Wu Yanmin SRS+
Ms. Chen Weijun PRIEE 2+
Dr. Zhang Zhihong REBEL
Mr. Wang Rongliang FERRBREE
Mr. Chen Jinzhong PR & ot 4
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Code provision A.4.1

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-
executive directors should be appointed for specific term and
should be subject to re-election.

The Company has deviated from the code provision A.4.1. Except
for one of the independent non-executive directors has been
appointed for specific term and is subject to re-election, other
non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors
were not appointed for specific term but are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at least once every three years in
accordance with the provision of the Company’s bye-laws. As
such, the Company considers that sufficient measures have been
taken to serve the purpose and objective of this Code provision.

The directors believe that, despite the absence of specified
term of non-executive directors, the directors are committed
to representing the long-term interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company formulated written terms of reference for the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee was set up on 30
June 2008. The majority of the members of the Remuneration
Committee shall be independent non-executive directors.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee are as
follows:

(@) to advise the Shareholders on whether the terms of service
contracts that require the Shareholder’s approval are fair
and reasonable;

(o) to make recommendation to the Board on the Group’s
remuneration policy and structure;

(c) to establish guidelines for recruitment of members of the
senior management;

(d) to determine the remuneration of members of the senior
management; and

(e) to formulate remuneration policy and make recommendations
to the Board on annual remuneration review.

Remuneration of the directors and senior management is reviewed
and fixed by the Remuneration Committee, with reference to
the market benchmarks and industry norms, and their duties
and responsibilities in the Group, having regard to the expertise,
performance and experience possessed by individual directors.
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1 meeting. The attendance of each member at the committee E% ° %)ﬁi%ﬁé%%@@ﬁ&Zﬁﬁuﬂﬁﬁﬂ

meeting is set out as follows: m
Meetings
attended/Total
meetings held
during the
Financial Year
U BFEE
HESERE
BOIZERELY
Non-executive director HTES
Ms. Jiang Nian BFELT 1/1
Independent non-executive directors ﬁﬁ#ﬁ%ﬁ%%
Mr. Wang Rongliang BREE 1/1
(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) ( e
Mr. Chen Jinzhong (appointed on 1 February R /%4 0/1
2021) (R=ZZTE_—F-_A—HEZF)
Dr. Zhang Zhihong (resigned on 11 November ik & & 1§ £ 0/1
2020) (RZZB_ZEF+—-A+—HET)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE REZE®
The Company has established a nomination committee of the ZAATNENR-ZZTE——F=ZAF+HKILARN
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) on 16 March 2012. RaEIZREZZEC([IREZLEg)) - BAK
During the Financial Year, the Nomination Committee held 1 HHFE @ REZLZEBLERTINEE ' &
meeting. The attendance of each member at the committee KENZE € E€H 2 HFELHEHNMT
meeting is set out as follows:

Meetings
attended/Total
meetings held
during the

Financial Year
B BRFEE
HEEBRE

Non-executive director
Ms. Jiang Nian

(Chairman of the Nomination Committee)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wang Rongliang
Mr. Chen Jinzhong

(appointed on 1 February 2021)
Dr. Zhang Zhihong

(resigned on 11 November 2020)

2

FUITES
BEZLT
(HEEZBEL/E)

MHEHITES
TEBREAE

PR& A
(R—FE-_—F_F—HEZT)
REEE L

(K== F+—A+—HET
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The major role and function of the Nomination Committee are to
formulate and implement the policy for nominating candidates
for consideration by the Board and election by shareholders,
review the structure, size and composition of the Board with due
regard to Board diversity, and to assess the independence of
non-executive directors.

The Nomination Committee adopted a board diversity policy that
set out the Group’s approach to diversify members of the Board
and the Group holds the view that this board diversity policy
will lead to a Board with diverse perspectives. Factors that will
be considered in the assessment of the diversity of a director’s
perspective include, but are not limited to, gender, age, culture,
skill, knowledge, educational background and professional
experience. Presently, the Board comprises of nine directors,
of which three are independent non-executive directors, with
significant diversity in gender, age, professional experience,
educational and cultural background, skills, knowledge and
length of service.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a nomination policy
guiding the nomination criteria and procedures to identify, select
and recommend candidates for directorship.

The Nomination Committee shall consider a number of
nomination criteria in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate for directorship or proposed re-appointment of
a retiring director, including but not limited to: the skills,
knowledge and experience possessed by the candidate or
retiring director which are relevant to the Group’s business,
corporate development and strategy; the diversity perspectives
set out in the Board Diversity Policy and the balance of skills
and experience in board composition; the level of independence
from the Company and compliance of the relevant requirements
under the Listing Rules; and such other factors the Nomination
Committee may consider relevant to enhancement of the
effectiveness of the Board.

Subject to the provisions in the Company’s bye-laws, where the
Nomination Committee determines that an additional director
or a replacement director is required, it may take appropriate
steps in connection with the identification and evaluation of a
suitable candidate for directorship. The Nomination Committee
may deploy channels including referral from directors, advisers
of the Company and external executive search firms in the
identification process, evaluate a candidate based on the
nomination criteria stated above, and make recommendation for
the Board’s consideration and approval.
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For re-appointment of a retiring director, the Nomination
Committee reviews his/her service to the Company, the level of
participation on the Board during his/her term, and after taking
into account the nomination criteria, recommends to the Board
for proposed re-appointment of the retiring director who wishes
to stand for re-election at the Company’s general meeting.

The Nomination Committee may also propose to the Board
a candidate recommended or offered for nomination by a
shareholder of the Company as a nominee for election to the
Board, if it evaluates that the candidate meets the nomination
criteria. The procedures for shareholders to propose a person
for election as a director are published in the Company’s
website.

The Board has the ultimate responsibility for selection and
appointment of directors. On accepting the recommendation
made by the Nomination Committee, the Board may (as the case
may be) appoint the candidate as director to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board and recommend the candidate to
shareholders for election or re-election (for a retiring director) at
the general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The directors confirm that the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The
directors also confirm that the consolidated financial statements
of the Group have been published in a timely manner.

The directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubts upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

A statement by the auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities is set out in the “Independent Auditors’ Report”
on pages 50 to 53 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Group’s external auditor is Elite Partners CPA Limited. For
the Financial Year, the auditor of the Company had performed
audit services and their remuneration in respect of audit services
was HK$1,100,000.

There was no non-audit services provided by the auditor of the
Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties as required under the Code:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

(¢) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report (the
“Corporate Governance Report”).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company formulated written terms of reference for the
audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee is composed of three independent non-executive
directors. At least one of the members of the Audit Committee
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required under the
Listing Rules.

The primary functions of the Audit Committee are as follows:

(@) to serve as a focal point for communication between the
directors and external auditors;
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(b) to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility by providing
an independent review with the management of the
accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group,
and supervision of financial reporting, and monitoring and
reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
and the adequacy of the external audit;

() to review the appointment of external auditors on an
annual basis as well as to ensure continuing auditors
independence;

(d) to develop and monitor the applications of the policies on
the engagement of the external auditors to perform other
professional services (other than tax-related services); and

(e) to oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control procedures.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the Financial
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Year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. “ZEBgEH
The Audit Committee held 6 meetings during the Financial Year, BEXZEBE@RATKREERITONS# °
Meetings
attended/Total
meetings held
during the
Financial Year
rHBEE
HESERE
BIzEREY
Ms. Chen Weijun PR {2 & & 6/6
(Chairman of the Audit Committee) (BERZEEFE)
Mr. Wang Rongliang FHRBREAE 6/6
Mr. Chen Jinzhong (appointed on 1 February B & #F % 4 1/6
2021) (R—E-_—F_F—AEZT)
Dr. Zhang Zhihong (resigned on 11 November 3R &E1E + 3/6

2020) (R=FZFTF+—A+—H&D

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining a sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems
to safeguard the Shareholders’ interests, and to review the
effectiveness of such systems regularly. The risk management
and internal control systems include defined management
structure with limits of authority set at various levels, which is
designed to safeguard assets, ensure the maintenance of proper
records, provide reliable financial information for internal use
or publication, and ensure compliance with regulations. During
the Financial Year, the Board has reviewed the internal control
procedures of the Group and consider the risk management and
internal control systems to be adequate and effective.
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The Group’s internal audit function is performed by an
outsourced internal audit team, which reports directly to the
Audit Committee.

The report provided internal audit findings and any action
to be taken by management as a result. These findings and
recommendations for improvement will be communicated
to the respective management for their responses and
corrective actions. The Group’s management team monitors
the implementation of its recommendations and reports the
outcome to the Audit Committee.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

(i)

Procedures for convening of a special general
meeting and putting forward proposals at

shareholders’ meeting

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general
meetings. Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, any
one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition (the “Written Requisition”)
to the Board or the Secretary of the Company at the
principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company
(at Unit No. 2111, 21/F, West Tower Shun Tak Centre, 168-
200 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong),
to require a special general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition.

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, an annual
general meeting shall be called by a written notice of not
less than twenty-one (21) clear days and not less than
twenty (20) clear business days and any special general
meeting at which the passing of a special resolution is to
be considered shall be called by a written notice of not less
than twenty one (21) clear days and not less than ten (10)
clear business days. Business day under the Listing Rules
means any day on which the Stock Exchange is open for
business of dealing in securities.

If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
accordance with the provision of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Procedures for directing enquiries to the
Company

To direct enquiries to the Board, Shareholders should
submit his/her/its enquiries in writing with contact details
(including, registered name, address and telephone
number, etc.) to the Company Secretary at the following:

By post to the head office and principal place of business
in Hong Kong at Unit No. 2111, 21/F, West Tower Shun Tak
Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan,
Hong Kong.

Tel: (852) 2598 6818
Fax: (852) 2598 6628

Matters relating to share registration

For share registration related matters, such as share
transfer and registration, change of name and address
of Shareholders, loss of share certificates or dividend
warrants, Shareholders can contact the Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office at the following:

Tricor Tengis Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2810 8185

Fax: (852) 2980 1333

Procedures for a shareholder to propose a

person for election as a director

Subject to the provisions of the Company’s bye-laws, the
Shareholders may from time to time in general meeting by
Ordinary Resolution elect any person to be a director either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional director.

Shareholder(s) may propose a person other than an
existing director of the Company for election as a director
at a general meeting. The Shareholder(s) must deposit a
written notice (the “Notice”) to the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

The Shareholder(s) must prove his/her/their shareholding in
the Company.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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The Notice must be signed by the Shareholder(s) (other
than a person to be proposed) and shall be accompanied
by the following information and documents:

— the full name and the contact information of the
Shareholder(s);

— the contact details, age and the full name of the
person proposed for election as a director of the
Company;

— biographical details of the person proposed for
election as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules;

— letter of consent signed by the person proposed to be
elected that he or she consents to be director of the
Company, if elected.

The Notice and the abovementioned information
and documents must be lodged with the Company
commencing from the day after despatch of the notice of
the general meeting and ending no later than seven (7)
days prior to the date of such general meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company endeavours to uphold a high level of corporate
transparency. Keeping Shareholders, investors, analysts,
bankers and other stakeholders informed of its corporate
strategies and business operations has been one of the key
objectives of its investor relations team.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The directors hereby submit their report with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year.

PLACE OF INCORPORATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law (as revised) of the Cayman lIslands and continued in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability in
accordance with the Companies Act 1981 (as amended) of
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and its
principal place of business in Hong Kong is Unit No. 2111,
21/F, West Tower Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the businesses of the Group during the year and
a discussion on the Group’s future business development is
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended
31 March 2021 using financial performance indicators is
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 6 to 21 of this annual report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number of
risks and uncertainties. The followings are the key risks and
uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other risks
and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are
not known to the Group or which may not be material now but
could turn out to be material in the future.
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Business Risk

Certain of the business segments in which the Group operates
are subject to the overall economic growth of the PRC, which
is subject to ever-changing economic policy changes of the
PRC government. Any adverse changes in economic policies of
the PRC government could materially and adversely affect the
Group’s business.

The valuation of the intangible asset of the Group is tied to the
Group’s ability to successfully complete the development and
commercialisation of the Product and the policy of medical
examination and the medical policy. As at the date of this report,
the Product is still in the research and development stage,
uncertainty as to when the product can be launched exits. In
addition, commercialisation is subject to uncertainty and risks
arising from the results of the clinical trial of the Product and the
assessment of the National Medical Products Administration.
These factors may be beyond the control of the Group. Any
delay or failure in the Group’s ability to do so may adversely
affect the Group’s business and financial performance.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. Responsibility for managing operational risks
basically rests with every function at divisional and departmental
levels. The Group recognises that operational risks cannot
be eliminated completely and that it may not always be cost
effective to do so.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework. The
Group will identify and assess key operational exposures from
time to time and report such risk issues to senior management
as early as possible so that appropriate risk response can be
taken.

Financial Risk
The financial risk management of the Group are set out in note
33 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

RESULTS AND FINANCIAL POSITION

The results of the Group for the Financial Year are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 54 to 55. The directors do
not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Financial
Year. There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

The state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2021 are set out
in the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 56
to 57.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the Financial Year in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Financial Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note
28 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during
the Financial Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 58 to 59. There were no
distributable reserves of the Company at 31 March 2021 (31
March 2020: Nil).

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the convertible bonds issued by the Group are set out
in note 27 to consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Financial Year and up
to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing

Mr. Tang Rong

Ms. Huang He (retired on 31 August 2020)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman)

Ms. Xiao Yan

Ms. Wu Yanmin

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing, Mr. Tang Rong and Ms. Jiang Nian are also
directors in certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Chen Weijun

Mr. Wang Rongliang

Mr. Chen Jinzhong (appointed on 1 February 2021)
Dr. Zhang Zhihong (resigned on 11 November 2020)

In accordance with the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Chen
Jinzhong who was appointed subsequent to the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 1 February 2021, shall hold
office only until the forthcoming annual general meeting (2021
AGM”) and, being eligible, will offer herself for re-election at the
2021 AGM.

In accordance with the bye-laws of the Company, one third of
the directors for the time being shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly, Ms. Xiao
Yan, Ms. Wu Yanmin and Mr. Wang Rongliang shall retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 2021 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting had a service contract that was not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the directors and senior
management are set out on pages 22 to 24 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests or short positions of the
directors, chief executive of the Company or their associates in
any Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which is otherwise
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Name of director

Capacity

ESHR

Tang Rong Beneficial owner
Ea EmEBA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the
directors, chief executive of the Company nor their associates
had any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
were required to be recorded in the register by the Company
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or which is
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other contract of significance, to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the Financial Year or at any time
during the Financial Year, nor was there any other contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business between the
Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries and a controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or in existence during the Financial
Year.
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FTERRREMALTREOR
HERDz2EZR AR

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, the register of interests and short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
kept under Section 336 of the SFO showed that, the following
entities had an interest or deemed interest of 5% or more in the
issued share capital of the Company:

R-ZE-_—F=RA=+—HB REZHK
HIE 5% ] 53361 F & < N AR B i K 48
Bk zEm AR ERMAE  THE
BRARRDETRATHEB LR S
B5%k LA EHES

RARTACRITREAZHFR

Long positions in the issued share capital of the

Company
Number of Percentage of
shares/  Long (L) or the issued
underlying Short (S) share capital of
Name of shareholders Capacity shares held position the Company
RN
BEEZRG/ HELR BRI
LEEE: 54 HBERGHE KR(S) BREED
Dr. Mao Yumin (note 1) Benefioial owner 1,187,200,000 L 81.08%
EREE L (1) Ea&EAA
Interest of a controlled corporation 82,770,810 L 5.65%
REHEE 2 #R
United Gene Holdings Limited (note 1) Interest of a controlled corporation 82,770,810 L 5.65%
BEeERZERERRR (M) REGEE E R
Dr. Xie Yi (note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation 82,770,810 L 5.65%
MR s (E2) REHEE B
Ease Gold Investments Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 82,770,810 L 5.65%
(note 2) (P 5E2) REHEEZ #a
Good Links Limited (note 3) (K #£3) Interest of a controlled corporation 7,770,810 L 0.53%
REHEE #R
Victory Trend Limited (note 3) (¥ £3) Interest of a controlled corporation 7,770,810 L 0.53%
REHEE B R
Best Champion Holdings Limited (note 4)  Interest of a controlled corporation 7,770,810 L 0.53%
EERA R DR (K 5T4) REHEE B a
China United Gene Investment Beneficial owner 7,770,810 L 0.53%
Holdings Limited ERBEAA
(note 5) (P 7£5)
Chau Yiu Ting Beneficial owner 328,600,000 L 22.44%
B 12 B2 ExEAA
& %
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Notes:

1. These include (i) 363,200,000 ordinary shares held by Dr. Mao directly;
(i) 824,000,000, 55,000,000 and 20,000,000 derivative shares held by
Dr. Mao, JNJ Investments Limited (“JNJ”) and United Gene International
Holdings Group Limited respectively, which shall be issued by the
Company upon exercise of the conversion rights attached to the
convertible bonds in an aggregate principal amount of HK$359,600,000
issued by the Company. JNJ is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
United Gene Group Limited, which is in turn owned as to 33% by United
Gene Holdings Limited. United Gene International Holdings Group Limited
is wholly-owned by JNJ; (iii) 7,770,810 ordinary shares held through China
United Gene Investment Holdings Limited, which is held as to 60% by
Best Champion Holdings Limited, and which is in turn held as to 33.5%
and 33% by United Gene Holdings Limited and Victory Trend Limited
respectively. Victory Trend Limited is wholly owned by Good Links Limited.
United Gene Holdings Limited and Good Links Limited are 100% and 50%
held by Dr. Mao respectively.

2. Ease Gold Investments Limited, is wholly-owned by Dr. Xie Yi (“Dr. Xie”),
which owns 33.50% and 33% equity interests of Best Champion Holdings
Limited and United Gene Group Limited respectively.

3. Victory Trend Limited is wholly-owned by Good Links Limited, which is in
turn owned as to 50% by Dr. Mao and as to 50% by Dr. Xie. Victory Trend
Limited owns 33.00% equity interests of Best Champion Holdings Limited.

4. The equity interest of Best Champion Holdings Limited is owned as to
33.50%, 33.50% and 33.00% by United Gene Holdings Limited, Ease
Gold Investments Limited and Victory Trend Limited, respectively.

58 China United Gene Investment Holdings Limited is owned as to 60% by
Best Champion Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the directors were not aware of any
other relevant interests or short positions of 5% or more in the
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2021.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive director confirming his/
her independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.
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1, " EBIE() BT T H B /363,200,000
REBB: (VRITEATRBRESFHS2ER
B BARRBITZITERD — A&8
% /359,600,000/8 T Z AR E S - TH 5 B
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the related parties transactions entered into by
the Group during the Financial Year is contained in note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The following transactions between certain connected persons
(as defined in the Listing Rules) and the Group have been
entered into during the Financial Year and/or are ongoing for
which relevant announcements, if necessary, had been made
by the Company in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Continuing connected transactions

Since 31 August 2010, the Company has engaged Dr. Mao
to provide advisory and consultancy services to the Group in
relation to research and development of the Group’s genetic
testing products, and other scientific technologies. In this role,
Dr. Mao is the Company’s chief scientific adviser and currently
receives a monthly service fee of HK$56,000. The previous
agreement with Dr. Mao commenced on 1 September 2016, for
a period of three years, and was renewed on 31 August 2019 for
an additional period of three years, unless terminated earlier in
accordance with the agreement.

To the best knowledge of the directors, there were no other
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
subsisting during the Financial Year.

INTERESTS IN COMPETITORS

During the Financial Year and up to the date of this report, other
than those businesses of which the directors were appointed
as directors to represent the interests of such businesses, no
director is considered to have had an interest in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up
by the management on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors for the Financial Year are
decided by the Board, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, their duties and responsibilities in the Group, individual
performance and comparable market statistics, and have been
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee during the Financial
Year.
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Report of the Directors

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
the existing Shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Convertible bonds issued as disclosed in this
annual report, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares, or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing Shares, were entered into by the Company
during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws, every director or other
officers of the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs
of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they or any of them, their or any of their heirs, executors or
administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of
any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices,
or trusts. The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Financial Year, the Group did not make any charitable
donation (2020: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s total purchases and
sales attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers
respectively during the Financial Year is as follows:
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ARABABRK BERRKEAR
RBIBERGBNETFESBHERERTR
BE -ARARE/SAKBEEZENTHRAR
ZHABENRRERE -

BERW
KA BFE - AREY EIEH T AEE

FTREFRHEED

AMBFEE AKBFR2HREHRESD
BIEEASREZ RBRERKERE A
BT

Percentage of
the Group’s total

EhAEEAEZ
Aok
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At no time during the Financial Year had any of the directors,
their close associates or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) held an interest in any of the
Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The
Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract
and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the
remuneration package of employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture.
The Group also understands that it is important to maintain
good relationship with its suppliers and customers to fulfil
its immediate and long-term goals. To maintain its market
competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at delivering
constantly high standards and high quality products to its
customers. During the year under review, there was no material
and significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/
or customers.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE

Environmental Protection

Environmental conservation remains a key focus for the
Group. The conscientious use of resources and adoption of
best practices across the Group’s businesses underlie its
commitment to safeguarding the environment. The Group
encourages environmental protection and complies with
environmental legislation and promotes awareness towards
environmental protection to the employees.

The Group puts great emphasis on environmental protection and
sustainable development. Through the establishment of an ever-
improving management system, enhancement on procedure
monitoring, energy conservation and environment protection
were strongly promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement
of environmental management. Several measures have been
implemented by the Group in order to promote environmental
protection.

The Company will publish a separate Environmental, Social and
Governance Report as close as possible to, and in any event
no later than three months after, the publication of this annual
report.
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Report of the Directors
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those that
have significant impact on the Group. The audit committee of
the Company is delegated by the Board to monitor the Group’s
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.
Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant
operation units from time to time.

As far as the Company is aware, it has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors as at the
date of this report, the directors believe that the number of
securities of the Company which are in the hands of the public
is above the relevant prescribed minimum percentage under the
Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there is no
other significant event occurring after the reporting period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Corporate Governance Report of the Company are
set out on pages 26 to 37 of this report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the five years ended 31 March 2021 is set out on
pages 151 to 152 of this report.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year were audited
by Elite Partners CPA Limited, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Jiang Nian
Chairman
Shanghai, 29 June 2021
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Independent Auditors’ Report
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elite
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CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 54
to 150, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Material uncertainty related to going concern

As discussed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a loss for the year
of HK$212,155,000 during the year ended 31 March 2021
and, at of that date, the Group had net current liabilities of
HK$771,873,000. These conditions indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The validity of the going concern assumption is dependent on
the successful and favourable outcomes of the measures being
taken by the management of the Company and the development
of the events as described in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements. The management of the Company is of the opinion
that the Group would be able to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, and do not include any
adjustments relating to the recognition of provisions or the
realisation and reclassification of non-current assets and non-
current liabilities that may be necessary if the Group is unable to
continue as a going concern.

We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the use of going concern assumption in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Should the
going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments may
have to be made to reflect the situation that assets may need to
be realised at the amounts other than which they are currently
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position at
31 March 2021.

In addition, the Group may have to recognise further liabilities
that might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on
the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

"ma}
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
However, because of the matter described in the Basic for
Disclaimer of opinion section of our report, we were not able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis
for an opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Leung Man Kin with Practising Certificate
number PO7174.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10th Floor

8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon, Hong Kong

29 June 2021

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meBEakEaEElER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE_Z-_—F=A=1+—HIFE

2021 2020
—E_—F —E_FF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FET FAT
Revenue U = 6 15,189 14,580
Cost of sales 85 & A AR (13,784) (12,960)
Gross profit EH 1,405 1,620
Other income H bl A 8 255 30
Other gains and losses, net Hiplhes X E51E F58 8 219 (49,4086)
Administrative expenses THRAXZ (16,910) (22,643)
Research and development MERAX
expenses (6,092) (11,336)
Share of results of associates DIEEE DR EE - 6,312
Finance costs MEE A 9 (191,032) (147,039)
Loss before income tax FriS iRl 8 (212,155) (222,462)
Income tax expense FEHAX 10 - —
Loss for the year F R I8 11 (212,155) (222,462)
Other comprehensive income/ Hpz2mzs, (AX)
(expenses):
ltems that may be reclassified HEAJpEEFH 7 E 18
subsequently ZIEEH -
to profit or loss:
Share of other comprehensive EIEHE AR AMmEE
income of associates g - (1,388)
Exchange differences on MEBIINEBZERE
translation of foreign operations ] (40) 1,601
Release of share of other B Bt N BB AR BR
comprehensive income of hEE N2
associates upon disposal of an HEa 2wk
associate - 13,319
Other comprehensive (expense)/ FREME2E(FEX), W
income for the year (40) 13,532
Total comprehensive expense for the N % i X 4258
year (212,195) (208,930)

)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
freBa A MR EW R

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

2021 2020
g —T_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T FHET
Loss for the year attributable to: ATATERFEAREIE:
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIEZ P =N (204,939) (211,117)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R R = (7,216) (11,349)
(212,155) (222,462)
Total comprehensive expense for the A A TEEERNEEHR X
year attributable to: 4RFE
Owners of the Company ZiN/NSIET =N (204,979) (197,585)
Non-controlling interests FETE AR #E 5 (7,216) (11,345)
(212,195) (208,930)
HK cents HK cents
A1l ol
Loss per share B EE 15
Basic 2R (14.00) (14.42)
Diluted e (14.00) (14.42)

é
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRI R

As at 31 March 2021
RZE-_—F=H=+—H

2021 2020
B —F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
F& T FE T
Non-current assets ERMEBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE - BEREE 16 - 35
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 1,186 3,433
Intangible asset A 18 1,373,224 1,373,224
1,374,410 1,376,692
Current assets MENEE
Trade receivables B 5N IR 3 19 15,323 15,608
Prepayments, deposits and other FERRIE - R REME
receivables &l 20 4,485 3,642
Bank balances and cash IRITHEB LIRS 21 8,992 22,936
28,800 42,186
Current liabilities mEAaE
Trade payables BN 22 5,479 10,253
Lease liabilities HE&E 23 1,118 2,285
Accruals and other payables EAERAREMERNK 1,686 5,140
Amounts due to non-controlling e+ #T % #E 25 3R 18
interests 25 3,092 3,092
Amounts due to former non- FE AT BT FE4E AR M 25 SR 1B
controlling interest 25 823 823
Loan from a substantial KE—UFTERRER
shareholder 25 20,000 7,000
Amount due to a former associate JE TR BSE 2 N A 3R IB 25 41,947 41,947
Convertible bond AR & 27 726,528 —
800,673 70,540
Net current liabilities mBBEFE (771,873) (28,354)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDAEME 602,537 1,348,338

E
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R MIBIRR R

As at 31 March 2021
RZE-_—F=H=+—H

2021 2020
—E_—F —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 TER FAT
Non-current liabilities EREBE
Convertible bonds Al ¥R (& 25 27 206,784 743,142
Lease liabilities HE&E 23 - 1,111
Loan from a non-controlling REFEEREZER 25
interest 20,929 20,929
Loan from a former associate RERBE AT ZERK 25 16,118 15,383
243,831 780,565
NET ASSETS EEFHE 358,706 567,773
Capital and reserves BARKFHE
Share capital & 7 28 14,642 14,642
Reserves G (609,994) (405,015)
Equity attributable to owners of the AR &) A A FE1E # 25
Company (595,352) (390,373)
Non-controlling interests FE 1% IR 2 31 954,058 958,146
TOTAL EQUITY R 358,706 567,773

The consolidated financial statements on pages 54 to 150 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2021 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Jiang Nian
B
DIRECTOR
BZE

HNEL4EE B0 2B HERD
HEFER_ZE_—FAZtThBA#E

WHATEEREREE:
Tang Rong
=
DIRECTOR
=
S
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=-A=+—HLHFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AAREEARS

Foreign
Share  Convertible currency Non-
Share premium  bonds equity Others Statutory translation  Accumulated controlling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve losses interests equity

TEk
K RHER AR FER
Rx BER fifE 2t R fif RitE @it E#
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 ‘ HKS$'000 000 0 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL BT AT T I TAL AL
(Note d
(H3xd)

Asat 1 April 2019

We2 1110204 1,152,862 (7,791 M (1599 352,71 (74.957) 869,769 794,812

Loss for the year ERER = = = = - - e1,17) et 1) (11,345) (222,462)
Other comprehensive income £ Ef# 2 EH

for the year - - - 11,931 - 1,601 - 13,532 - 13,532

Total comprehensive income A2 EREAE
for the year = = = 11931 = 1,601 (211,117) (197,585) (11,345) (208,930)
Deemed early redemption of

convertible bonds - - (440,824) = S o 422,115 (18,109) - (18,109
Modification of convertible bonds - - (136,646) - - - 136,646 - - -
Change in ownership interest in

Subsidiaries upon disposal of

associate - - - - - - (99,722) (99,722) 99,722 -
As at 31 March 2020 Rz

-A= 14,642 1,119,294 575,392 4140 347 2 (2,104,190) (390,373) 958,146 567,773
Loss for the year ERER - - S S - - (204,939) (204,939) (7.216) (212,155)
Other comprehensive income R EH2EN &

for the year - - - - - (40) - (40) - (40)
Total comprehensive income A2 ENEAE

for the year - - - - - (40) (204,939 (204,979) (7.216) (212,195)
Deregistration of subsidiaries B #HHBARE - - - - (347) - 347 - 3,128 3,128
As at 31 March 2021 i 3

14,642 1,119,294 575,392 4,140 - (38) (2,308,782) (595,352) 954,058 358,706

5
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Notes:

(@)

(0)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

The share premium account represents the amount subscribed for share
capital in excess of nominal value.

Convertible bonds equity reserve represents the amount allocated to
the equity component of convertible bonds issued by the Company
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
convertible bonds in note 4(h)(iii) to the consolidated financial statements.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”) before distribution of the net profit each year, the Group’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC shall set aside 10% of its net profit
after taxation to the statutory reserve. The reserve can only be used, upon
approval by the board of directors of these PRC established subsidiaries
and by the relevant authority, to offset accumulated losses or increase
capital. During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, there was no
transfer from retained profits to the statutory reserve since the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries incurred net loss in those years.

Foreign currency translation reserve represents gains/losses arising
on retranslating the net assets/liabilities of foreign operations into
presentation currency.

Other reserve represents:

(i) the difference of HK$3,607,000 between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests of Longmark (Shanghai) HealthCare
Limited (“Longmark (Shanghai)”’) were adjusted and the cash
consideration of RMB2.5 million received arising from deemed
disposal of 20% of the registered capital of Longmark (Shanghai)
that do not result in the losing control by the way of capital injection
in 2012;

(ii) the difference of HK$7,940,000 between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests of Longmark (Shanghai) were adjusted and
the cash consideration of RMB7.49 million received arising from
deemed disposal of 37.47% of the registered capital of Longmark
(Shanghai) that do not result in the losing control by the way of
capital injection in 2013; and

(iii) amount of HK$7,407,000 transferred to non-controlling interests
arising from waiver of loans to a non-wholly owned subsidiary
during the nine-months ended 31 March 2014.

Remittance outside the PRC of retained profits of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC is subject to approval of the local authorities and
the availability of foreign currencies generated and retained by these
subsidiaries.

20214F %R

mEEREER
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE_ZE-_—F=A=1T—HIFE
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERETRER

As at 31 March 2021
RZE-_—F=H=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Loss before tax A& 8 (212,155) (222,462)
Adjustments for: A
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BELKEITE
equipment 35 60
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CHRAREENE 2,274 1,184
Gain on modification of convertible BRI E A& 2 W=
bonds - 27,749
Deemed early redemption of SIERFBERAUTBRKRES
convertible bonds — (5,973)
Change in fair value of investments in ~ AJ R EAIRE 2
convertible bonds NEEESY - 22,132
Share of results of associates DI E RREE - (6,312)
Gain on disposal of property, plant PEME - MERZHEZ
and equipment W &8 (13) =
Interest income from banks FITHBWA - 6
Interest income from rental deposit M &% & 7 F B A 29 15
Effective interest expense on AMRESZERHNE
convertible bonds k3 27 190,170 146,367
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries i £ I B 2 &) 7F flt 2 U 25 (280) =
Imputed interest expense on FEUEE 2 DT 2 BB
loan from the subsidiary NABERZHEF B
of an associate 53 9 735 556
Interest on lease liabilities HEAREHNE 127 116
Allowance of doubtful debts REBH 496 232
Reversal of allowance for doubtful BERREE
debts (422) —
Loss on disposal of an associate HE—EBE R 2ER - 5,266
AR

E
60 _ INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2021 Annual Report



Operating cash out flows before

2EAS BB

CmmdwmedswmwmmcﬁCamFbws

,T\ Eﬁimu%%
As at 31 March 2021
RZE-_—F=H=+—H

2021
—EZ—F

2020
—E-EF
HK$’000
T

HK$’000
FTERT

changes in working capital KRS (19,004) (81,064)
Decrease in trade receivables 2 5 e W R ZUR 211 5,336
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments,  FAfTFIE « & K

deposits and other receivables H {th & W 3R T8 (38 )Rk (1,321) 2,604
Decrease in trade payables B O ENRFB D (4,774) (10,961)
Decrease in accruals and EEtER R EAMEN

other payables FIE R A (118) (2,134)
Decrease in amount due to the B E R T ZHB AT

subsidiary of an associate IR, D - (5)

NET CASH USED IN REZHFAZRSSE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES (25,006) (36,224)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZE

Interest received from banks EUWERITH B - (21)

Proceed from disposal of an HEHE A 7 Z

associate T8 &1 - 50,000
Proceed from disposal of HEWME  BEKKBEAR
property,plant and equipment BFRIE 13 —
NET CASH GENERATED FROM RETBDFSEREFE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 13 49,979
S %
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
/T\ Eﬁimui%

As at 31 March 2021
RZE-_—F=H=+—H

2021 2020
—E_—F —F-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEZTH
Repayment of loan from a BEFERIER
substantial shareholder — (25,000)
Proceeds from loans from a EXTERRERMBRIEA
substantial shareholder 13,000 7,000
Proceeds from loan from a former ERIE:E RRE X
associate Fr 5 3k 18 - 9,800
Interest paid on lease liabilities i) fE\EZEH A2 (127) (116)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAE (2,300) (1,162)

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/ BMEFEHRES (A Z
(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES H& % 10,573 (9,478)

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN iE%EUE%%F#’Z)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS W),/ 88 0 (14,420) 4,277

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ¥R e RkEEEEY
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 22,936 17,058

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE /' EX#HF %
RATE CHANGES 476 1,601

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FXRXRB £ RESZEEY -
THE END OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and BRTHEHBER S
cash 8,992 22,936

E
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1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. On 1 March 2013, the Company has
been deregistered in the Cayman Islands and continued
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
under the laws of Bermuda. The Company’s shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of its
registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of business
in Hong Kong is situated at Unit No. 2111, 21/F, West
Tower Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with the
Company referred to as the “Group”) are set out in note 31
to the consolidated financial statements.

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards and the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or
after 1 April 2020 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

BERGHENEIRREBSHERFESR 2B

Amendments to HKFRS 3

BEARMBHREENEIR ZIBEFTA

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

BERMBHREENEISR  BAEGTEREINR K
BERVMBREENETR ZEFTR

e PR HRR MR

—RER
EMBEREVMREERAR (AR
ANREREHSARERNFAERS
A AEREEREERA o B
—E—=ZFZA—H  ARFREERL
REeEs i WIRERARE
EPIAEREEREET AR ZER
RBERERE - ARAIRMDNR BB
ERGIBR AT (B ER E
™ o EiE 9% = & #b 4k & Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda - EH B F B &3
Hh B A7 R F A LR TR B H168-200
SRS LT B2IE2INE ©

RAB R/ —EREERLF - HHNE
RE(ERARABEAIAKE])ZE
2EBIANGEAM B RAME -

EREEMBE®RE ER
TEEMBHREER ]

REFEBRHERNEBYK
WEEAZEIT A

RAFE  REERERREGMB
BEABEBXEABHE LGS
((EA G BHRAR_FTZ
TEA— Bk 2RI FEHRE
BEIERNB A HRE LR S
ERSIAZET AR TINEETE L
B 5 s R

Definition of Material
BEANTE

Definition of a Business
¥XBHEE

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

HE ST TS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR SRR M A

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continuea)

Except as described below, the application of the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

(i) Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The
amendments provide a new definition of material that
states “information is material if omitting, misstating
or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements, which provide financial
information about a specific reporting entity.” The
amendments also clarify that materiality depends
on the nature or magnitude of information, either
individually or in combination with other information,
in the context of the financial statements taken as a
whole.

The application of the amendments in the current
year had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continuea)

(ii) Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
The Group has applied the amendments for the
first time in the current year. The amendments
clarify that while businesses usually have outputs,
outputs are not required for an integrated set of
activities and assets to qualify as a business. To be
considered a business, an acquired set of activities
and assets must include, at a minimum, an input
and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

The amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of replacing any
missing inputs or processes and continuing to
produce outputs. The amendments also introduce
additional guidance that helps to determine whether a
substantive process has been acquired.

In addition, the amendments introduce an optional
concentration test that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business. Under the optional
concentration test, the acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business if substantially all of the fair
value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in
a single identifiable asset or group of similar assets.
The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill
resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities.
The election on whether to apply the optional
concentration test is available on transaction-by-
transaction basis.

The application of the amendments in the current
year had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements, but may impact future periods should the
Group make any acquisition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR SRR M A

2. APPLICATION OF HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continuea)

(iii) Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments modify
specific hedge accounting requirements to allow
hedge accounting to continue for affected hedges
during the period of uncertainty before the hedged
items or hedging instruments affected by the current
interest rate benchmarks are amended as a result
of the on-going interest rate benchmark reform. The
amendments are relevant to the Group given that it
applies hedge accounting to its benchmark interest
rate exposures.

The application of the amendments in the current
year had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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(“ H KFRSS”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17

Nl R AV

Amendments to HKFRS 3

BEAVBRELENEIR
EEIFN

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

E 55 B LB 105 R
B SRR F085 2
E

Amendments to HKAS 1

EAGFEREIR 2B R
Amendments to HKAS 16

BB ERE16 ZEF]
PN
Amendments to HKAS 37

BA G ERFEITR 2 EF]
Zi

Amendments to HKFRSs
BEAUBREEN ZBIR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e SRR

2. APPLICATION OF HONG KONG 2. ERE M BHREER

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (BB HREER e

B 9 165181 14 5 45 3% 10 37 5T 2 48

CHESLE Y

eSS TR

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments

R & REAER R

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

HESERMEMR

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
REEHHEBENR LA ECECHANEE

HELLE

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

RERSBERRBIFERDREEREESR
MEEE] (CETF)

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

ME BERERE — BEREANZAERE

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

BRIESH - BITRAZKRE

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020
R \GFE_Z_TFZEBMBHREER
i) F 2

7N ER [ 3 4 4R A AT © B 4B i
REMEOHE RGERTE MR

Effective for
annual periods
beginning

on or after
RUTR#S®
ZEBBRN
FEHEEXR

1 January 2023
—E-=F—H—H
1 January 2022
—E-_#—H—H
A date to be

determined
FETHHS

1 January 2023

—E-=F—H—H
1 January 2022
—E--F—H—H

1 January 2022

- -_%—A—H

1 January 2022

- —"F%—H—H
.yﬂmj
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR SRR M A

2. APPLICATION OF HONG KONG 2. EAE B8 & HEER

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (ERATBREEL D
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but EEMERKREROHET R
not yet effective continueq) BT EBRBHREER

Effective for
annual periods
beginning

on or after
RUTR#®
ZEBEN
FEHRBEX

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 1 January 2021
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4, and HKFRS 16

BAMBREENFET - MEEEYE — F_BR “E--F—-A—H
BB G ERFEI95% -
BRMBHREEANETSR -
BRMBHRELNE45R R
BB R EERE165K

A HEN
Amendment to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
BR G EANFSRZBIAR S EFANER —E-=%—-H—H
Amendment to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 1 January 2023

arising from a Single Transaction
BAGHENF2HR BIIA BRE-RXFELANEENBERENELINE —T-_=%—-Hi—H

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 1 June 2020

BEEMBWEENFEI16%H 2 HEMAMERERSR —TZTFA—H
EEIFN

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 related Rent Concessions beyond 1 April 2021

30 June 2021
EEUBKRELERNFI6H 2 “ZS-FRAAZtTHENFEMAREBEEE T —FNA—H

CEIRN e
Amendment to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023

and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

BAGTERE IR LB SEHUR R “T-=%—H—H
BREENEBREF2NR

PACTIRN

2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective (continuea)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

() Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework
The amendments:

— update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations so that it refers to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued
in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”)
instead of Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced
by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2010 issued in October 2010);

— add a requirement that, for transactions and
other events within the scope of HKAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, an acquirer
applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead
of the Conceptual Framework to identify
the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination; and

— add an explicit statement that an acquirer does
not recognise contingent assets acquired in a
business combination.

The Group will apply the amendments prospectively
to business combinations for which the date of
acquisition is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR SRR M A

2. APPLICATION OF HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective (continuea)

(i) Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS
7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2 relate to the modification
of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease
liabilities, specific hedge accounting requirements
and disclosure requirements applying HKFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures to accompany
the amendments regarding modifications and hedge
accounting.

— Modification of financial assets, financial
liabilities and lease liabilities. A practical
expedient is introduced for modifications
required by the reform (modifications required
as a direct consequence of the interest rate
benchmark reform and made on an economically
equivalent basis). These modifications are
accounted for by updating the effective interest
rate. All other modifications are accounted for
using the current HKFRSs requirements. A
similar practical expedient is proposed for lessee
accounting applying HKFRS 16;

— Hedge accounting requirements. Under
the amendments, hedge accounting is not
discontinued solely because of the interest
rate benchmark reform. Hedging relationships
(and related documentation) are required to be
amended to reflect modifications to the hedged
item, hedging instrument and hedged risk.
Amended hedging relationships should meet all
qualifying criteria to apply hedge accounting,
including effectiveness requirements; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e SRR

2. APPLICATION OF HONG KONG 2. EAE &0 HEER
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS &

(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continuea)

(i)

(iii)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS
7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 (continued)

— Disclosures. The amendments require
disclosures in order to allow users to understand
the nature and extent of risks arising from the
interest rate benchmark reform to which the
Group is exposed to and how the entity manages
those risks as well as the entity’'s progress in
transitioning from interbank offered rates to
alternative benchmark rates, and how the entity
is managing this transition.

The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale
or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements and HKAS 28 /nvestments in Associates
and Joint Ventures deal with situations where there is
a sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. Specifically, the
amendments state that gains or losses resulting
from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does not
contain a business in a transaction with an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the
equity method, are recognised in the parent’s profit
or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in that associate or joint venture. Similarly,
gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement
of investments retained in any former subsidiary (that
has become an associate or a joint venture that is
accounted for using the equity method) to fair value
are recognised in the former parent’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests
in the new associate or joint venture.

The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR SRR M A

2. APPLICATION OF HONG KONG 2. EAE B8 & HEER

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS TEBMBHREE Do

(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but E 18 i {8 1] K 4 AT H AT KRR

not yet effective (continueq) BRI EBMBEHREED =)

(iv) Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification (iv) EBSFHEREIRZBITR
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current BEESEARBRNIERE R
and related amendments to Hong Kong EEARESESEMNBEBRET (=
Interpretation 5 (2020) EBE-FF)

The amendments provide clarification and additional B ;TELH,@ *éﬁg I

guidance on the assessment of right to defer BT EE ﬂﬁﬁ; s R

settlement for at least twelve months from reporting ESHEREELF—@EA mﬂﬁg%

date for classification of liabilities as current or non- SHEAETHABNIERTEE

current, which: He:

— specify that the classification of liabilities as — kT aGEsEALTHAE
current or non-current should be based on rights BEIEREBEBREENR

that are in existence at the end of the reporting LHRKEFENRERN - A

period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that: BT ZEEIRFE:

(i)  the classification should not be affected by () DEAESZREE
management intentions or expectations to =@ sk H B E 121 A
settle the liability within 12 months; and NS EERN 2

&

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance iy WREFABTA ']
with covenants, the right exists if the Bist s NBERSE
conditions are met at the end of the HA oK S RS Jg
reporting period, even if the lender does not BFFE B @g
test compliance until a later date; and ABIBEBETARS

R R
— clarify that if a liability has terms that could, — BEWRABE/EZIEZHTL
at the option of the counterparty, result in its M5 HEE . B3
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own BEEEREAG ST
equity instruments, these terms do not affect Efed,. guegERs
its classification as current or non-current only RIEEEERZ2ABERAR

if the entity recognises the option separately as B @ MR B39 51 K

an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial TA: E%Zﬁg STER -

Instruments: Presentation. HEERTI T e EH S

BARDEERERDE
B o
In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised AN AR EE S MR S5
as a consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to TIEE] WE BB E ST
align the corresponding wordings with no change in TIEET - 1,11@:@;;5@; SR —
conclusion. HBEHTE
Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 BIEAEBR -_ZET-——F= 8
March 2021, the application of the amendments will —+ EZ*E?&%W - BE A
not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities. ERIIATSEHRARAEFR Y
WNM% HE B S -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective (continuea)
(v) Amendments to HKFRSs Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements make amendments to the
following standards.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of
assessing whether modification of terms of original
financial liability constitutes substantial modification
under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower includes only
fees paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16 removes from the example
the illustration of reimbursement relating to leasehold
improvements by the lessor in order to remove any
potential confusion.

HKAS 41 Agriculture

The amendment ensures consistency with the
requirements in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement by
removing the requirement in paragraph 22 of HKAS
41 to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring the
fair value of a biological asset using a present value
technique.

The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR SRR M A

i Ny =]

2. APPLICATION OF HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective (continuea)
(vi) Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions

The amendment is effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

The amendment introduces a new practical expedient
for lessees to elect not to assess whether a Covid-19-
related rent concession is a lease modification. The
practical expedient only applies to rent concessions
occurring as a direct consequence of the Covid-19
that meets all of the following conditions:

— the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for
the lease immediately preceding the change;

— any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2021; and

— there is no substantive change to other terms
and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the
changes applying HKFRS 16 Leases if the changes
are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted
to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which the event occurs.

The application is not expected to have impact on
the Group’s financial position and performance as
the Group does not intend to apply the practical
expedient.
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(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”), accounting principle generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rule Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rule”).

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the
Directors have considered the future liquidity of the Group.
As at 31 March 2021, the Group has net current liabilities of
approximately HK$771,873,000. These conditions indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern and therefore the Group may be unable to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

Notwithstanding the aforesaid conditions, these
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis on the assumption that the Group will
be able to operate as a going concern for the foreseeable
future. In the opinion of the Directors, the Group can meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall due within
the next year from the date of the consolidated financial
statements, after taking into consideration of the following
measures and arrangements made subsequent to the
reporting date:

()  The Company obtained a confirmation from the
Group’s former associate confirm that shall not
demand for repayment of the amount of approximately
HK$41,947,000 as at 31 March 2021 for a period of at
least 12 months from 29 June 2021.

(i)  The Company obtained the financial support of
the substantial shareholder and confirm in written
that agreed to provide the Company with sufficient
financial support to enable the Company to meet its
obligations to third parties as and when they fall due
and to continue as a going concern.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iRe TSR M e
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continuea) 3. MEEE
(a) Statement of compliance (continueq) (a) &R EBH=

(i) On 12 May 2021, the Company and Extrawell
Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (“Extrawell”), the
former associate of the Company, entered into the
second deed of amendment pursuant to which the
Company and Extrawell have conditionally agreed
to amend the terms of the convertible bonds to the
effect that: (i) the Maturity Date shall be extended from
the original maturity date to 28 July 2023; and (i) the
interest payment date of the convertible bonds shall
be further amended.

The Second Amendment shall be conditional upon
and subject to:

(@) the approval having been obtained from the
Stock Exchange in respect of the Second
Amendment;

(b) all necessary consents and approvals required
to be obtained on the part of the Company
and the Bondholder in respect of the Second
Amendment having been obtained and remained
in full force and effect;

(c) the passing of the necessary resolution(s) by
the shareholders of each of the Company and
the Bondholder at a special general meeting of
each of the Company and the Bondholder to
be convened and held to approve the Second
Deed of Amendment and the transactions
contemplated thereunder; and

(d) the Bondholder having passed a written
resolution of the bondholder meeting to approve
the Second Deed of Amendment and the
transactions contemplated thereunder.

On the basis of the foregoing, and after assessing the
Group’s current and forecasted cash positions, the
Directors are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet
in full the Group’s financial obligations as they fall due for
the period of twelve months from the date of consolidated
financial statements. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements of the Group have been prepared on the going
concern basis.
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(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost basis except for financial instruments, which
are measured at fair values as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based
payment”, leasing transactions that are amounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16 and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use
in HKAS 36 “Impairment of assets”.

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

— Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

— Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

— Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(b)

(c)

(a)

(b)

FIFSERAR ML

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Basis of measurement continued)

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$”), which is the same as the presentation
currency of the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred,
in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including a structured entity)
over which the Group is able to exercise control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

(b)

(c)

(a)

(b)
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(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

The Group applies the acquisition method of accounting
to account for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and
the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred unless
they are incurred on issuing equity instruments, in which
case the costs are deducted from equity.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at
the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKFRS 9 either in profit
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Inter-company transactions, balances, and unrealised
gains or losses on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Profits and losses resulting from inter-
company transactions that are recognised in assets are
also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

4.

(b)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position disclosed
in the note 32 to these consolidated financial statements,
the investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
provision for impairment losses. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without
change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners in
their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value
of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired
of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is
recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-
controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

4.

(b)
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(c)

(d)
(i)

(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the board of directors that makes strategic
decisions.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the consolidated financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’ s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4.

(d)
(ii)

(iii)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (continuea)
Transactions and balances (Continuead)

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities
denominated in foreign currency classified as financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI") are analysed between translation differences
resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the
financial asset and other changes in the carrying amount
of the financial asset. Translation differences related to
changes in amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss,
and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in
equity.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets
and liabilities such as equity investments held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit on loss as
part of the fair value gains or losses. Translation differences
on non-monetary financial assets such as equities
investments classified as financial asset at FVTOCI are
included in other comprehensive income.

Group entities

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each reporting period
presented are translated at the closing rate at the end
of the reporting period;

— income and expenses for each consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income presented are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a
separate component of equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate at the date of that transaction.

4.

(d)
(i)

(iii)
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(e)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent
costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost or revalued amounts
less their residual values over the estimated useful lives on
a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles

3-10 years
3-8 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within other income and gains in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(f)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite
useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at
costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Intangible asset which represents an in-process research
and development project (“In-process R&D”) involving an
oral insulin product (the “Product”). The In-process R&D is
not amortised as it is not yet available for use.

Internally generated intangible assets (research and
development costs)

Expenditure on internally developed products is capitalised
if it can be demonstrated that:

it is technically feasible to develop the product for it to
be sold;

° adequate resources are available to complete the
development;

° there is an intention to complete and sell the product;
o the Group is able to sell the product;

° sale of the product will generate future economic
benefits; and expenditure on the project can be
measured reliably.

Capitalised development costs are amortised over
the periods the Group expects to benefit from selling
the products developed. The amortisation expense is
recognised in profit or loss and included in cost of sales.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Intangible assets (continuea)

Development expenditure not satisfying the above criteria
and expenditure on the research phase of internal projects
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Impairment

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for impairment
when there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication
that they may be impaired. Intangible assets are tested for
impairment by comparing their carrying amounts with their
recoverable amounts (see note 4(i)).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivables without a
significant financing component) is initially measured at fair
value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL"), transaction costs that are directly attributable
to its acquisition or issue. Trade receivables without a
significant financing component is initially measured at the
transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirely when determining whether their cash flows
are solely payment of principal and interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(9)

(i)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective interest rate
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Debt investments at
FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest
income calculated using the effective interest rate method,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

FVTPL: Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets
held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at FVTPL, or financial assets mandatorily
required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely
payments of principal and interest are classified and
measured at FVTPL, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be
classified at amortised cost or at FVOCI, as described
above, debt instruments may be designated at FVTPL on
initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly
reduces, an accounting mismatch.
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(9)
(i)

(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Financial assets (Continuea)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not
held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value
in other comprehensive income. This election is made on
an investment-by-investment basis. Equity investments at
FVOCI are measured at fair value. Dividend income are
recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend income
clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the
investments. Other net gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income and are not reclassified
to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are classified
as FVTPL, whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) on trade receivables, prepayment, deposits
and other receivables. The ECLs are measured on either
of the following bases: (1) 12-month ECLs: these are the
ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these
are ECLs that result from all possible default events over
the expected life of a financial instrument. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’ original
effective interest rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR SRR M A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXEHHE»

(Continued)
(g) Financial instruments (continuea) () €M T A
(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued) (i) *MEEBREEGBR®

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
loans and accounts receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified
approach and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on
the 12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information analysis, based
on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 90 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
or (2) the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.
For non-credit-impaired financial assets interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.
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(9)
(iii)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on
the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially
measured at fair value and financial liabilities at amortised
costs are initially measured at fair value, net of directly
attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and
other payables, borrowings, and the liability component of
convertible bonds issued by the Group are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is recognised in profit
or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Convertible bonds containing liability and equity
components, and early redemption option, if applicable
Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain both
liability (together with the early redemption option which is
closely related to the host liability component, if applicable)
and conversion option components are classified
separately into respective items on initial recognition
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument. Conversion option that will be settled
by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments is an equity instrument.

On initial recognition of convertible bonds issued by
the Company, the fair value of the liability component is
determined using the prevailing market interest of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference between the gross
proceeds of the issue of the convertible bonds and the fair
value assigned to the liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert the convertible
bonds into equity, is included in equity (convertible bonds
equity reserve).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(9)
(iii)

(iv)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continuea)
Convertible bonds containing liability and equity components,
and early redemption option, if applicable (Continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
representing the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in
convertible bonds equity reserve until the embedded
option is exercised (in which case the balance stated in
convertible bonds equity reserve will be transferred to
share premium). Where the option remains unexercised
at the expiry date, the balance stated in convertible
bonds equity reserve will be released to the accumulated
losses. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon
conversion or expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a
creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a
result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity
instruments issued are the consideration paid and are
recognised initially and measured at their fair value on the
date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If
the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot be
reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to
reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability or part thereof extinguished and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.
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(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(h)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Derecognition (Continued)

When the contractual terms of financial liability are modified
such that the revised terms would result in a substantial
modification from the original terms after considering
qualitative factors (e.g. modifications of convertible
instruments). When the contractual terms of a convertible
instrument are modified, the revised terms would result
in a substantial modification from the original terms, after
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors, such modification is accounted
for as derecognition of the original financial liability and the
recognition of new financial liability. The difference between
the carrying amount of financial liability derecognised and
the fair value of consideration paid or payable, including
any liabilities assumed and derivative components
recognised, is recognised in profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of the following assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

o property, plant and equipment;
° intangible assets; and

° investments in subsidiaries
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of assets (other than financial

assets) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under
that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset, discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or loss.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the
best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities «continueq)
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fee paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
drawdown occurs. To the extent there is capitalised as a
prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of reporting
period.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(m)

(Continued)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
loss. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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(n)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation (continuea)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Retirement benefit costs and termination

benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other
than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled
wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual
reporting period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are recognised in
the year when the employees render the related service.

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is
without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

4.

iR e SRR

EAXAEFTHEe

(m) HE#)

(n)

20214 %R

ELERBAEERABREN RSN
ROBRMAEEDBMH2HE (KR
FERBMERNEEREXERE
EHHEREFFTE -

ELERAABENREE ZFFERBRA
SEFEHNBEHREEHFEE
EEMBBEREEZIAGELY
BAE1&R o

BT R B AER RN IR sn HE AR - ME R
REMEEE RN B RN ERPHE
RHOBBEBERI - ERBERT
BEA S B SE R TR IR 0 B R B A 2
WHIEENERANER -

3R K18 A B A I B B 4R A

RHEERMNATEHNEERZHME
RGN FERESHRR @A
2 B AEE R R B (BB A R
5N - RE B B FI X (B B 1R (L 1H RE
R FEARMER

FEARKMB(FE]DBEREER
KBNS BB ERETE 2
HX REERERGMAERER
ERMABERRAX -

Bl 5 AR R 10 J A2 O N B B B e e AR
HtERKFEAFMALATSE 28R
ERIELMHE  BEEBENERATE
MBS T RERR o

EMBEREVREERAF

&Y



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=

A
(==}

FIFSERAR ML

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(o)

(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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(p)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or
finance leases) are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices
exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases
which are short-term leases and/or (i) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at
the commencement date have a lease term less than 12
months. The lease payments associated with those leases
have been expensed on straightline basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy to
account for lease liability); (i) any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by
the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred
by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. Except for right-of-use asset that meets the
definition of an investment property or a class of property,
plant and equipment to which the Group applies the
revaluation model, the Group measures the right-of-use
assets applying a cost model. Under the cost model,
the Group measures the right-to-use at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR RR M

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXEHHE»

(Continued)
(p) Leases (continueq) (p) HE#®

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right of use the underlying
asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease are considered to be
lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable; (i) variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date; (iiij amounts expected to
be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
(iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments
of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (i) reducing
the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made;
and (i) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a change in
future lease payments arising from change in an index
or rate, a change in the lease term, a change in the in
substance fixed lease payments or a change in assessment
to purchase the underlying asset.
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(r)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group‘s and the Company’s
financial statements in the year in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of the parent of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR SRR M A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXEHHE»

(Continued)
(r) Related parties (continued) v BERF®
(b)  (continued) (b)y &)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for vy ERBARETERIERSE
the benefit of employees of either the reporting EREHENERBHES
entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. B &5 &% 2 89 BE B 4 A BT
If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the ElofmzmEERBERA
sponsoring employers are also related to the MEtE - BREEHNEE
reporting entity. MEZBREERLBBE -

(vl The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (vi) ?E‘%ﬁ(a)ﬁﬁ 4 Bl 4
person identified in (a). o X EEH o

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant (Vi) EX@OPTENATHE
influence over the entity or is a member of the %%ﬁiﬁﬁf@j} SBZE
key management personnel of the entity (or of a B ZEBNERARDE
parent of the entity). EEENKE

(viii) The entity or any member of a group of which it (vii) ZERBIEMBEE 2 F
is a part, provides key management personnel AKERA - AAEEL
services to the Group or to the parent of the AEBEZHRARREETE
Group. EEBAEBRE -

Close members of the family of a person are those ZBANTZEEREKEZIE

family members who may be expected to influence, or ZATHEEEERSE - B

be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the AERATZATEENRE

entity and include: KB EREeiE:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic ) BATZTFEEREBxX
partner; FERX B :

(i)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic (iy ZBAALTEBIFRENXES
partner; and 2T R

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s (i) ZALTHZALTRBER
spouse or domestic partner. EREZREB °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 5.

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Loss allowance for trade and other receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade and
other receivables by assessing the ECLs. This requires
the use of estimates and judgements. ECLs are based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the end of reporting period. Where
the estimation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will affect the carrying amounts of trade
receivables and thus the impairment loss in the period
in which such estimate is changed. The Group keeps
assessing the expected credit loss of trade and other
receivables during their expected lives.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR SRR M A

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
U N C E RTAI NTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continuea)
Impairment of intangible asset

The Group performs annual tests of impairment on
intangible asset in relation to an in-process research and
development project involving an oral insulin product (the
"Product") (the "In-process R&D") involving the Product
which are not yet available for use. Accordingly, the
intangible assets relating to the Product with the carrying
amount of approximately HK$1,373,224,000 as at 31 March
2021 (2020: HK$1,373,224,000) was tested for impairment.
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units are
determined based on fair value calculations, which is
highly dependent upon further research and development
work required to be carried out, results of the clinical
trials, the successful launching of the Product and the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing
cash flow projections. Details of the calculation of fair
value are disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements. These calculations require the use of estimates
and assumptions made by management on the future
operation of the business, pre-tax discount rates, and
other assumptions underlying the fair value calculations. In
addition, the management is of the opinion that the Group
would be successful in obtaining the regulatory approvals
from the relevant government bodies and launching the
Product in mid of 2023 in the absence of unforeseeable
circumstance. The management also based on the
assumption that the Group would continue to have the
exclusive right for commercialisation of the Product.

Should the actual outcome of the clinical trials and the
launching of the Product be unsuccessful, the likelihood
and timing in obtaining the regulatory approvals from the
relevant government bodies to launch the product to be
unrealised, or the key assumptions applied in preparing
the cash flow projections from the Product in assessing
impairment, including the discount rates or growth rate
assumptions applied in the cash flow projections on the In-
process R&D is different from the original estimates, such
difference could materially affect the carrying value of the
intangible assets. It will consequently have an adverse
effect on the net assets and the results of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continuea)
Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
apart from those involving estimations, management
has prepared the consolidated financial statements on
the assumption that the Group will be able to operate
as a going concern in the coming year, which is a
critical judgement that has the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Leases - Estimating the incremental

borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in the lease, and therefore, uses its incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR, therefore, reflects what the Group “would have to
pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates
are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example,
when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such
as market interest rates) when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates.

iR e SRR

EAESHEHRMATTE
EERZENFERE=

TR ERZZ2ETERR@)
EEKEEE
REAAEBNSETEEE  BRSKE
EEfEETSN  BEEERAEE B
MR RERFEEEZRRBRES
MK W ESREMERERM
BMRATHECELAREAFZENEKX
B -

HE - B EEEERN X

AEEBEZESEFTHENRESH
M Wil EREEBEFRIX(E
ERENX)FEHERAR - BEE
EMESAREEERURAR - BLU
ER G - REBROUEERET @ 5
EGEEREEERUBENEE
BAMBE MU ATHFEX o
g REBEMNERRRT AEEHE
AR R R - 8 R] B A B R B
(WA WETLRE RS 2K B R
ME)XREBHMERETHBEARR
MEZGRREGEER(NEREL I
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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6. REVENUE 6.

Revenue for the year represents the fair value of amounts
received and receivable for goods sold or services
rendered by the Group to outside customers, less
discounts and related taxes for the year, is analysed as
follows:

REBHEXTEM
I 7R —

Sales of beauty products in Hong Kong
and recognised at a point in time

PRy ] B B 520

iy 2
FAREERAEERIIATRE
ﬁiéu%i?mfﬁﬂ&ﬁzaqﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁz%‘i
B2 RAFE EHRFRZITNEE
BMIE - DmT:

2021
—_E_—F

2020
—EFHF
HK$000
TAET

HK$’000
TR

15,189 14,580

For sales of beauty products revenue is recognised when
control of goods has transferred to the customer, being
at the point the goods are delivered to the customer. The
normal credit term is 90 days upon delivery.

7. SEGMENT REPORTING 7.

The Group has two (2020: two) reportable and operating
segments as follows:

(@) trading of beauty products in Hong Kong (“Trading of
beauty products”)

(b) research, development and commercialisation of the
oral insulin product (“Research and development”)

The Group’s reportable and operating segments are
strategic business units that offer different products and
services. They are managed separately because each
business requires different technology and marketing
strategies.

JAR

E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iRa SRR M

SEGMENT REPORTING (continueq) DEEE =)
Segment revenues and results TEHMEREE

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as those described in the consolidated financial
statements. Segment (loss)/profit represents the loss
incurred by or profit earned from each segment without
allocation of corporate and other expenses and other
income, gains and losses, net. All assets are allocated
to segments other than corporate assets, and bank
balances and cash. All liabilities are allocated to segments
other than corporate liabilities, lease liabilities, amounts
due to a former associate, a non-controlling interest and
former non-controlling interests, loan from a substantial
shareholder, a former associate and a non-controlling
interest and convertible bonds.

EBEDMEHKREL S B R
RFCRENRR - DEEE),EHE
EXESECEEAMAS R EM
WA et R BEFEZBERT &
DEHEEZEBIMEZEN - D
AEEET DRI EAREEE
EARRITEBERE MO BEHRE
BETORSLEAMEXEEE H
SRE - EATEZ QR] - SRIERE
m MR IE R s 2 FRIR KRB —
7 X EARER - AR E R F RIEERE
@mER ARATBBRES

m =5 A

Trading of beauty Research and
products development Total
@i
2021
T_F —F—- i
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL ThEr
Revenue from external customers ~ RENBRFE 2 Wiz 15,189 - = 15,189 14,580
Segment profit/(l0ss) AHEH /(B8 1,330 (10,088)  (14,375) (8,738)  (12,990)
Additional disclosures for operating £ B2 B ENEESA:
segments:
Unallocated other income, gains and 7 Bt £ AU A -
losses, net WERERFE 280 (27,042)
Interest expenses on convertible TRREFNTE
bonds f% (190,170)  (146,367)
Corporate and other expenses PEREMRAT (13521)  (20,243)
Change in fair value of investmentin -~ TAREHRRE 2
convertible bonds AEEEE - (22,132)
Share of results of associates AMEBERAZEE - 6,312
Loss before income tax REERAER (212,155)  (222,462)
Income tax expense FERAY - -
Loss for the year ERER (212,155 (222,462)

202155 EMBERAEMPEFRALF 105
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING (continueq) 7.

AR

o

2

106_

,<‘—;

Segment assets and liabilities

SHEEREE

Research and

development Total
E iy

2021 2020 2021

i —F—F/ — & — i
= =
—=_ = ——

7HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$ OOO

Trading of beauty
products
ZRERES
2021 2020
i Sk S 32
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR Thn
Assets BE
Segment assets NHEE 15,397 24536
Corporate and other assets PEREANEE
Total assets EELE
Liabilities af
Segment liabilties PHaE 5,479 10,245
Convertible bonds RRES
Corporate and other liabilities tEEEMAR
Total liabilities BEAE

TR BT T TER

1,378,492 1,380,876 1,393,889 1,405,412
9,321 13,466

1,403,210 1,418,878

16,568 15,840 22,047 26,085
206,784 743,142
815,673 81,878

1,044,504 861,105

Geographical information

The principal place of the Group’s operation is in Hong
Kong. For the purpose of segment information disclosures
under HKFRS 8, the Group regards Hong Kong as its
country of domicile. Over 90% of the Group’s external
customers and non-current assets are located in Hong
Kong.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding year
contributing over 10% of the total revenue are as follows:

i 32 & R
AEBZEBITBEMNEL - SR
BREABVHMEENESHRELND
MEMBEMS  AKREREERE
BLih - REEEEIBIO%MINEEEP K
FRBEEUNETL -

EBTEEFEFER
$HF%¢FTI§K&%B B ZE10% B P2
W T

2021 2020
—E-—F

HK$ 000 HK$ 000

Customer A FFH 15,189 14,580
Revenue from the above customer in the respective Lt EEP AR RSB WY
reporting period is derived from the segment of trading of KEERELESZ DI o

beauty products.
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AN
Aral

8. OTHER INCOME/OTHER GAINS AND 8.
LOSSES, NET BEE

2021
—_E_—F

Other income

A A

HK$°000
FER

75 R Y RE

Ht W A E fth Uy 35 K% &S

2020
—E-FF

HK$’000
TAET

Interest income from banks RATH B WA - 6
Interest income from rental deposit HEZEFEKA 29 15
Sundry income MIBIWA 14 9
Government grants (note) BRmie (W) 212 —
255 30
Other gains and losses, net H i an K B 18 F5E
Impairment loss on trade receivables & 5 & Ut Bx 78 2 8 B &5 1B (74) (232)
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME  BEKZHE W
and equipment = 13 —
Change in fair value of investments in R EHFIEE 2 A FE
convertible bonds by - (22,132)
Loss on disposals of an associate HEBE QAR CEIE - (5,266)
Loss on modification of convertible BRI BmKRES BB
bonds - (27,749)
Gain on deemed early redemption of 17 {E 2 F & [0] 7] #2 % (& 5
convertible bonds W = - 5,973
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries & %4 M B 2 7] i it 2 W = 280 —
219 (49,406)

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised

B 2

government grants of approximately HK$212,000 in respect
of Covid-19-related subsidies, which related to Employment
Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong Government. There
were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these

government grants.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE BT RARMIEE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9.

Effective interest expense on convertible A% &% 2 BEEF| B

8 M

2021
—E-—F

HK$°000
FET

2020
—T-FTF
HK$’000
TAT

bonds 190,170 146,367

Imputed interest expense on loan froma RERBE AR ERZ(HE
former associate B 735 556
Interest on lease liability HERBRZAE 127 116
191,032 147,039

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2,000,000 of profits of qualifying group entity will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2,000,000 will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of corporations not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to
be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and the Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% (2020:
25%).

No Hong Kong Profits Tax and PRC income tax have been
made for the year as the group companies operating in
Hong Kong and the PRC did not generate any assessable
profits for the year (2020: Nil).

10. FRIF BB

BEFSHMAES  AEREEEE
B8 £2,000,000 7T 5% F 15 A8.25%
BB R B - TR 182,000,000 7T
B 3 ) # LA16.5% M) B BB BT o T FF
B T 15 B AR B AR B A B G 7 g
BEIT165%MHE —REBR -

BEFBRCEMSHE((DEMBERH
EDRCEMBRIAEMIEH - &
BB AT ZME R25% (ZE_TF
25%) o

HMRESBERPRLEZEE QRN
NEZWEEA TR EF -
bt AR FEEA EMREBFEH R
BEAEHR(CE-_TF #)-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (coniinveq)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
the loss before income tax per the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

iR e SRR

10. FREFH B X
FAMGHBEYHAGEERZMNEAM
2HEWER 2RISR E 1B 8 R
mr

—E--F —ZETHF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THER FET
Loss before income tax MRAETSTAIEE (212,155) (222,462)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate B ﬁﬁ/ 73 5% %16.5%
of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) (ZE-ZTF:16.5%)
FTE2RIE (35,006) (36,706)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMAZEEERLS
operating in other jurisdictions M8 A TZT\H$R+Z$3§J 3,653 (427)
Tax effect of expense not deductible RHBEAATHNR AT 2
for tax purpose MBTE 82 14,614
Tax effect of income not taxable RHBETERRZBAZ
for tax purpose MBTE (3,895) (991)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised ﬂEﬁE = fRﬂ‘*Eﬁ?ﬁ 2R 35,160 24,541
Tax effect of share of results of associates DEBMENRFE I RBETE - (1,041)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences 7~F 32 A] 18 & 5 = 58 Z@ﬁk
not recognised TE 6 10
Income tax expense P15 B 7 X - -
5. ) %
202155 FEMBEREVBEAERLT 109 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE BT RARMIEE

1.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year has been arrived at
after charging the following:

Auditors’ remuneration

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Expenses relating to short-term lease
payment

Cost of inventories recognised as an
expense

Staff costs, exclusive of directors’
emoluments
Salaries, bonus and other benefits
Retirement benefits scheme

contributions

11. FREE

2021
—E-—F

FABRTINETISE
®ER:

Z B =

ME - BEMREBITE

EREEENE
EREREERRZRAX

ERARAXZTFEKRAN
TEREEMEeERNZET
DN
e EARHEMER
BAKAE F FF B 5K

HK$’000
TR

2020
—E-FF
HK$’000
F& T

1,020 1,100
35 60
2,274 1,184
- 1,029
13,784 12,960
5,401 4,504
107 109
5,508 4,613
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The board of directors represents the senior management

of the Group.

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the ten (2020:
nine) directors were as follows:

iR e SRR

12.E5M<

EEgHRAEESREEE -

ENERN+RZ(ZZEZF: %)
EEzBemT:

Retirement
CEIE S benefit
Directors’ and other scheme
Name of Directors fee benefits contributions Total
ek EIKE A
ExEps ExHme H 1t 18 Al =t &1 it wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHT THT THET FHET
Tang Rong EE 60 488 - 548
Chen Weijun RER 80 - - 80
Xiao Yan H 7t 60 - - 60
Jiang Nian BF 60 - - 60
Zhang Zhihong (note (a)) o 508 (P 3% (a) 60 - - 60
Wang Rongliang TER 60 - - 60
Wu Yanmin BB 3 &1 60 - - 60
Gao Yuan Xing = IR H 60 1,300 - 1,360
Huang He (note (b)) =8 (5L (o) - 250 8 258
Chen Jinzhong (note (c)) B %A 5E () - - = =
Total for the year ended HE-_T-_—F
31 March 2021 =A=+—H
HEEZ BT 500 2,038 8 2,546
Tang Rong E 60 488 = 548
Chen Weijun (note (c)) BRiE & (5L (c) 80 - - 80
Xiao Yan H 2t 60 — - 60
Jiang Nian BE 60 202 = 262
Zhang Zhihong (note (a)) o &% (M5 () 60 - - 60
Wang Rongliang TER 60 - - 60
Wu Yanmin KB 3% 81 60 106 - 166
Gao Yuan Xing =R 60 1,300 10 1,370
Huang He (note (b)) B (M (b) = 650 18 668
Total for the year ended BE_Z_ZF
31 March 2020 =A=+—H
HEEZ BT 500 2,746 28 3,274
Notes: B 2F

(@) Dr. Zhang Zhihong was resigned as an independent non-executive
director on 11 November 2020.

(b) Ms. Huang He was retired as an executive director on 31 August

2020.

(c) Mr. Chen Jinzhong was appointed as an independent non-executive

director 1 February 2021.

@ REBBLHR-_Z-_ZF+—A+—A
BEBIENTES -

b)) EHBRLIR-Z_ZFN\A=+—HER
EHITESE -

© BETEER-B-—F-F ABE
EABIENTES - Uy

€
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continueq) 12.EEMEw

No directors waived any emoluments in current and prior
year.

During current year and prior year, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join

RAFERENEMFE  HEEENE
M -

RAFERERNFE  AEBEYER
THEEMNME  ERRFMARK

or upon joining the Group. RMAREE R ZE -
13. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. EEM &£
FA AEBREERFATLE
“R(CZEZEF ZR)EE BE
ZHeR ERIITHREE o HERARE
(ZEZEF -MB)ATZHE FH
N

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during
the year included three (2020: three) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented
above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2020: two)
individuals are set out below:

2021 2020

—E_—F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET T T
Basic salaries and other benefits EXRgFakEMER 1,000 1,000
Retirement benefit scheme contributions i K &8 F| 51 2 it & 36 36
1,036 1,036

The emoluments fell within the following band:

MENFATEHE :

Number of individuals

2020
—E-FF
HK$NIl to HK$1,000,000 Z % 7T 21,000,000 7T 2 2
14. DIVIDEND 14. I B

The directors do not recommend the payment of dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

o

E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rRE RS RR MR
15. LOSS PER SHARE 15. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share KRR HEBAELEER ﬁ$&?§ﬁ%%
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the BIOEATEHEAEEHE

following data:

Loss B 18

2021 2020
—E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAET

Loss for the purposes of basic and MEtEF ﬁK&%ﬁfé &
diluted loss per share (Loss for the 38 Z Eﬁé! (=2
year attributable to owners of the BEANERTF W EE? B)
Sl (204,939) (211,117)

Number of shares R EH

Weighted average number of ordinary 5t 5t & & i AN K #5855 18
shares for the purpose of basic and 2 &5 IR N AE I B

diluted loss per share 1,464,193 1,464,193
For the year ended 31 March 2021, basic and diluted BAEF N E1E 49204,939,0007% 7T (=
loss per share was HK$0.1400 (2020: HK$0.1442), T -F4F 0 211,117,00008 70) M XEF
which is based on the loss for the year of approximately M RIEBREARBEEEEB 2
HK$204,939,000 (2020: HK$211,117,000) and the CHE-E-_—F=A=+—H1t
denominators detailed above for both basic and diluted FE - BREAREFEEAR0.1400
loss per share. BIL(ZZEZEF 014428 7L) °
No diluted loss per share has been presented as the RRITERQR T2 ERITEIT R
exercise of the outstanding convertible bonds issued by the KEHFBERTREBRD (BIRE
Company would result in a decrease in loss per share (i.e. B MW EZGREEEE -
anti-dilutive).

202143 AMBRRENMZERART 113
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16. % - BMERRKRE

Plant and
machinery

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Motor
vehicles Total

LEE 1 AE B

HK$°000
TR

HK$’000
TR

HK$°000
TR

COST %N
As at 1 April 2019, 31 March RZE-AEHA—H -
2020 and 1 April 2020 “E-ZE=ZA=+—8k

“ZE-TFMA—A 516 313 829

Disposal & = (284) (284)
Deregistration of subsidiaries 1 #4 Kf B 2 &) 7+ it (36) — (36)
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZB-—5=A=+—H 480 29 509
ACCUMULATED RAFERAE

DEPRECIATION AND

IMPAIRMENT
As at 1 April 2019 RZZE-NFENA—H 421 313 734
Charge for the year FAXH 60 - 60

As at 31 March 2020 and N_E_ZTF=ZA=+—H

JAR

6_9 2

1 April 2020 R-E-TEWA—A 481 313 794
Disposal & - (284) (284)
Deregistration of subsidiaries 1 $4 ff B 2 7] 7+ it (36) — (36)
Charge for the year FARALZH 35 - 35
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZE-Z—-H=A=+—H 480 29 509
CARRYING AMOUNTS AR E

As at 31 March 2021

R=®=—F=A=+-H

As at 31 March 2020

RZE-ZEF=A=+—H

35

35
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e SRR

17. FREEE

Leasehold
properties
HEWXE
HK$'000
FAT
Cost 152345
As at 1 April 2019 Z-hFMHA—H 418
Additions //J\\E 4,227
Exchange realignment PE X 38 & (32)
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZZEZEF=A=+—8BK
—E-FTFNYAH—H 4,613
Exchange realignment PE H 3 =& 51
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZB-—H=H=+—H 4,664
Accumulated depreciation HEEeE
As at 1 April 2019 R-ZE—NAFWMPA—H -
Depreciation for the year FRITE 1,184
Exchange realignment b 5, 38 & 4)
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 ﬁé:%ﬁ:%ﬁi‘ A=+—HBEF
—E-FEFIWA—H 1,180
Depreciation for the year FAFE 2,274
Exchange realignment bE 5, 38 B 24
As at 31 March 2021 R-EBE-_—F=H=+-—H 3,478
Net carrying value REFE
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZEBE-Z—F=H=+—H 1,186
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZF_FTF=A=+—H 3,433

20214 %R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE BT RARMIEE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSET 18. EEEE

In-process
R&D
mEBRE

HK$’000
T

COST AND CARRYING VALUES
As at 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020,
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021

BRAR REE
R-ZEBE—NFNOA—H -
—E-mE=A=+-8.
“E-ZEFMA—BK

—E-—®=RA=+—H 1,373,224

The In-process R&D represented an in-process research
and development project involving the Product. The patents
of an invention “a method of production of oil-phase
preparation of oral insulin (—fE & # O R B & & HiE 2
B #) 77 K)” in relation to the Product are registered under
the joint names of Fosse Bio-Engineering Development
Limited (“Fosse Bio”) and Tsinghua University, Beijing
(“THU”) granted by State Intellectual Property Office of the
PRC and United States Patent and Trademark Office of
the United States of America granted on 4 August 2004
and 28 March 2006 respectively and will be expired on 20
April 2021 and 12 April 2022 respectively. Fosse Bio is a
subsidiary of Smart Ascent, which became a subsidiary of
the Company upon completion of the acquisition on 28 July
2014. In addition, Fosse Bio and THU have entered into
the agreements in 1998 in connection with the research
and development of the Product. Pursuant to the THU
Collaboration Arrangement, which is originally expired
in October 2018. During the year ended 31 March 2019,
the Group has entered into a supplemental agreement
with THU to renew the terms of the collaboration for
another five years to October 2023. (the “Renewed THU
Collaboration Agreement”). Under the Renewed THU
Collaboration Agreement, Fosse Bio would be entitled to
commercialise the relevant technologies of the Product
and to manufacture and sell the Product on an exclusive
basis, and THU is entitled to 1.5% of Fosse Bio’s annual
sales upon commercialisation of the Product. Accordingly,
Fosse Bio has the exclusive right for the commercialisation
of the Product for the duration of the unexpired term of the
Renewed THU Collaboration Agreement.

MEBEREBE I REMETETHSR
BIEE - —BEAMEMZII—ERE
ORESEMERBENFEIZEF
NEtEMIEBERAR (RN R
RBEREB(BFEAREDAREE
Bie o WAPBIBRRABERRD M E
EEREMEEERSR_ETN
FNAMNBEZZEZERF=ZA=F+N
BREL SRR -_E_—FMA
“+tARZZE-_FOA+=—HEIH -
BEREEZHBRRE @ EERER
AEZE—NEFtA-+NHERK
BEKARARZHBAR o o -
BAERBERER—NANN\FRITZ
HEBMEBEER2HE BEZR
KRAZE—N\FTARHZEEE
WE o HET-NF=ZA=1+—H
IEFE AEEERFEREBIT LA
W& ABEEFTFHIINEERT
EE_—FTR(EEEEHEW
&) REBEEESEWEHE - BL
EREENEERCEBEREMEBR
SERHBEER  MBERBEER
EnmmtEXNEZERBME1.5%2F
HEE - Bt  MEEEBSIEMH
EWmARENFHAREIRLE
mZBEEHE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continueq)

Legal advisors of the Company have informed that if the
Renewed THU collaboration agreement is early terminated
or expired, Fosse Bio will no longer have the exclusive right
of the commercialisation of the Product. Any of Fosse Bio
or THU will have the rights to independently commercialise
the patented product, without the consent from each other.
However, given that THU is an educational unit and does not
engage in commercialisation of the Product, the directors of
the Company have prepared the cash flow projections for
the 10-year period using the assumption that the product
will be launched in the mid of 2023.

The recoverable amount of the In-process R&D is
determined based on fair value calculations using
the income approach, with reference to the valuation
performed by Roma Appraisal Limited, an independent
firm of professional qualified valuers. The fair value
calculation used the cash flow projections prepared by the
management based on certain key assumptions, in which
the estimated cash inflows derived from budgeted sales
and expected gross margin were based on the expectations
for the market development. In addition, the fundamental
assumptions included the regulatory approvals from the
relevant government bodies (in particular, the granting
of the certificate of new medicine and pharmaceutical
manufacturing permit for the Product by China Food and
Drug Administration of the PRC) to launch the Product in the
mid of 2023.

The expected future economic benefits attributable to the In-
process R&D approved by the management cover a 10-year
period. The calculation used in the cash flow projections
with certain key parameters are as below:

iR e SRR

18. BFLEE

KARZERBEBRECRR BEEE
AIEMERBEREREXER &
T THEEERLERZERE -
BHRBFERETM—A BB
ZEHRBEMZERETREMRL
BEHARE - A - ERNBEARS
EFYERBENTELTERZ
At ARREZERRIEREB
RZZEZ=FFFHEL  GRI0FH
ZEERETEA -

MEpiEzA ke IKE2EE
VEXEERMGEMESEERFNGESE
RARETHMBE  ERAKAERR
FEFAEETE - R TFEFAEEER
EREENETIZRRBELEA
EREBA  EPFEHRSAAR
BRREFHEMBRENKTIER
HHISERMOAS o I - ERREK
BREABBRARER _T_=—FF+
BRhEREMEMMNEEIE(RRE
mE - ZHTPEBEREREREEE
BRBBRBENERHEFNES) -

EEEEMLNMHBERGEEHR
REBEN@REI0OFHME - RE8R
ERAMAFERETHRARSEWT
BT 7R

Discount rate (post-tax) A8 & (Bi1g)
Growth rate 1 E &
Gross profit ratio 48 R B &

24.67% 24.64%
2% 3%
64.66% 64.44%
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/VN set out in note 33.

o

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR SRR M A

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continueq)

19.

Based on the impairment review assessment, the
recoverable amount of the Group’s intangible asset is
estimated to be higher than the carrying amount. Therefore,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
impairment on the carrying amount of the In-process R&D
has to be recognised for the year (2020: Nil).

TRADE RECEIVABLES

. BEEE»

RIBRERS .5?16 RSB (R E Y

B B A] Uy 0 5R0E A
At ARBEERR
BREEEZBRECETZ

it 358
TE M)

. EZEWRX

SREREE -
BALF R

2021 2020
—E_—F

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FET FET

Trade receivables B 5 EW R 15,819 15,840

Less: Loss allowance for expected B TEHEEEE 2

credit loss EiE G (496) (232)
15,323 15,608
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly AEERPCESBEREZARIER

based on credit. The credit terms of 90 days (2020:
90 days). All sales made to the major customer have
short credit terms. These credit evaluations focus on
the customers’ past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

ST

EEHRIOR(ZE_TF:

WR) - AEXEH ﬁf’EﬁZFﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁE

VREEEY ZEEEFEEPX
1‘J‘§'JHH KIB 2 BELHE - URBAZ
SffEEN WEBEPUARERFE
BRBERBREBIITEER ° LN%
lﬁ(ﬁ!ﬂﬂ? i AR W B 2 R

SRERE Eﬁﬂ%@ﬁt,ﬂﬂﬁ%MO

ﬁ’\#ﬁziﬁﬂﬂi REZZAHZINE
ZRERWERR 2 R DT :

2021 2020

—EBE-—F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FAT
30 days or less 30HE AT 2,234 =
31 to 60 days 31260H 869 —
61 to 90 days 61290H 1,640 725
Over 90 days B B0 H 10,580 14,883
15,323 15,608

The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are

2
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20.

21.

22,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND

iR e SRR

20. ARRIE  -REREME

OTHER RECEIVABLES

Prepaid rental, management fee and

BNEE

EIEENEM
=

W K TH

2021
—E-—fF

HK$°000
FER

2020
—E-FF

HK$’000
TAET

other prepaid project operating fund {18 B & 18 £ 2 59 -
Deposits paid EftEE 595 549
Others EAb 3,831 3,093
Total faEt 4,485 3,642

Details of impairment of other receivables and deposits are
set out in note 33.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and bank balances
held by the Group with original maturity of three months
or less and carry interest at prevailing deposit rates which
range from 0.016% to 0.027% (2020: 0.016% to 0.027%)
per annum.

TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

H fth B W FRIE K IR £ R E T (2 5
1B A 5133

RITHERRERS
BITHEBIREBREASEREZE
e REBTHES RIHAA=ZMEAN
FRER RRITERFERTE - F
KN FHFE0.016%20.027% (ZZE =
T :0.016%£0.027%) °

BZENRAK
RBEEF  REREEHEF2E
508 R 3R 2 FR e AT AN T -

21.

22,

2021 2020

—EBE_—F —E_FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET F& T

30 days or less 30HE T 2,070 =
31 to 60 days 31260H 810 —
Over 60 days B iE60H 2,599 10,253
5,479 10,253

The average credit period on purchase of goods normally
range from 60 days to 90 days.

€
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PR RR M
23. LEASE LIABILITIES 23.fHE&E
2021 2020
—_E_—F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
T& T F& T
Current B HA 1,118 2285
Non-current 3 BN HH - 1,111
1,118 3,396
Minimum lease payments due RT3 EEREE 2
=K E RIE
— Within one year — —FR 1,136 2,411
— More than one year but not more — BB —F
than two years BAZRMF - 1,128
1,136 3,539
Future finance charges RRBEFEZ (18) (143)
Present value of lease liabilities HEREHE 1,118 3,396
Present value of minimum lease xEHERERE
payments
— Within one year — —FR 1,118 2285
— More than one year but not more  — B —4F
than two years BRZRME - 1,111
1,118 3,396
Amounts due for settlement within one W —F RN L& 2 &5
year 1,118 2,285
Amounts due for settlement after one R —F & B & 2 &5
year - 1,111
1,118 3,396

)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. LEASE LIABILITIES (continuea)

The exposure of the Group’s lease liabilities are as follow:

iR e SRR

23.fHEA B
AEBEFEBZ2HEAENT:

2021 2020

—EB-—F —ETF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THER FAT

As at 1 April R A—H 3,396 411
Additions NE - 4,174
Interest expense BRI 127 116
Repayment B (2,426) (1,278)
Exchange realignment bE 38 & 21 (27)
As at 31 March R=A=+—H 1,118 3,396

24. LOAN TO A NON-CONTROLLING
INTEREST

IR AR M 2 B R
1% Bt (Kt 5t a)
fRmE(E
B R E & 1R

Loan to a non-controlling interest
Fordnew (Note a)
Carrying value
Less: Impairment loss

24. I EREZER

2021
—_E_—F

2020
—E-FF
HK$’000
FHE T

HK$°000
FER

6,067
(6,067)

6,067
(6,067)

Notes:

(@) This represents a loan made by Smart Ascent to Fordnew Industrial
Limited (“Fordnew”) pursuant to the loan agreement dated 25
May 2011. The loan is unsecured and non-interest bearing and
repayment term was eight years after drawdown dates.

On 7 April 2014, Fordnew made a drawdown notice amounting to
about HK$2,789,000, and prior to the completion of acquisition on
28 July 2014, the aggregate utilised and unutilised balances were
HK$10,579,000 and HK$19,421,000 respectively.

As at 31 March 2015, principal amounts of HK$4,807,000,
HK$1,190,000 and HK$4,582,000 are required to be repaid after
8 years from April 2011, April 2012 and April 2014 respectively.
Accordingly, the balance is classified as non-current. Such non-
current interest-free loan to a non-controlling interest is recognised
at its fair value of HK$2,977,000 upon the acquisition of Smart
Ascent with an effective interest rate of 26.99% per annum.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, no further imputed interest
income has been credited to profit or loss since the amounts was
fully impaired (2020: Nil).

@ ZREEELERBABA-_T——FH
AZ+RAZERBAEAMNBHEXAR
RE(REDELEZER  ZERSE
ERLENS  BEHEFRBRAIRARE
NEH -

R-T—MFEMALR BH¥EL—H
© R4 52,789,000/ L Z BB AE -
MR- ZE—mE+ -+ B ZKETK
Al BEERARRERZEHBREIFA
10,579,000/ 7t }% 19,421,000/ 7T °

R-_ZE—HE=ZA=+—8 K%
#4,807,000# 7T - 1,190,000 7T K&
4,582,000 THRIFER_E——FMmMA -
“E——FOAKR-FT—OFE AN
FrRERE- Bt ZEBRSESERE
BVER o £ LA B IR 6 1) 3£26.99% W i HE A4
& ZETIEERERS ZIFRBERS
B 32,977,000 T2 A FEEHER °

BE-_Z-_—F=ZA=+—HLFE" &
RZERBERERE RTIBEHE
FBRAEFFABR(CE-_TF &) -

R ULY

é
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR SRR M A

25. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS AND FORMER

25. FE 1Y Ik 12 IR 1 2 % A0 9F 42
RERKIE BN ATBE

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS,
AMOUNT DUE TO FORMER ASSOCIATE,
LOAN FROM A NON-CONTROLLING
INTEREST, LOAN FROM A FORMER
ASSOCIATE AND LOAN FROM A
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER

Amounts due to non-controlling
interests

F& A IR 4% B A 25 BUIR

REFHIE - REFEZRERS
X REFBERTER
R—UEERREM

2021
—_E_—F

2020
—E-FF

HK$’'000
TAET

HK$°000
FHT

Fordnew (Notes a and b) 2 B (Mt sfab) 3,092 3,092
Amounts due to former JE 1<} AT 3E 4% AR 8 25 3B
non-controlling interests
Zheng Chang Xue (Notes a and b) B S 2 (ftstakb) 559 559
Hou Shi Chang (Notes a and b) &t 8 (M sTakb) 165 165
Feel So Good Limited Feel So Good Limited
(Notes a and b) (ft3Ea K& b) 99 99
823 823
Amount due to former associate JE < AT Bt & 8 B 518
Extrawell (BVI) (Note d) Extrawell (BVI) (Ff 5Fd) 41,947 41,947
Loan from a non-controlling interest K EFFIEREFZ E R
Fordnew (Note c) 12 B (Bt ¥ c) 20,929 20,929
Loan from a former associate AR E AR ER
Extrawell (BVI) (Note ¢) Extrawell (BVI) (F1 5 e) 16,118 15,383
Loan from a substantial shareholder HRKE— I EZRREK
Dr. Mao (Note f) FEiE L (M) 20,000 7,000

E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS AND FORMER
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS,
AMOUNT DUE TO FORMER ASSOCIATE,
LOAN FROM A NON-CONTROLLING
INTEREST, LOAN FROM A FORMER
ASSOCIATE AND LOAN FROM A
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER (continueq

26

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms
of repayment.

The amounts represent contributions made by non-controlling
interests of Fosse Bio in respect of working capital and operation
funds for the further clinical trials of the oral insulin project. The
amounts due to non-controlling interests and former non-controlling
interests were respectively HK$22,671,000 and HK$823,000 at the
date of acquisition on 28 July 2014.

This represents a loan made by Fordnew to Fosse Bio pursuant to
the loan agreement entered into between Smart Ascent and Fordnew
on 25 May 2011. The loan is unsecured and non-interest bearing.
Details of the loan are disclosed in note 24(a) to these consolidated
financial statements.

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and is not repayable within
one year.

On 27 July 2018, the Company and Extrawell (BVI) entered into a
shareholders’ loan agreement for a loan to Smart Ascent amounting
to HK$30 million in total (the “Loan”), to be contributed as to 51% i.e.
HK$15.3 million by the Company and as to 49% i.e. HK$14.7 million
by Extrawell (BVI). The Loan is unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per
annum.

Smart Ascent has been fully drawn down the loan. As at 31 March
2021, interest expenses of HK$1,104,000 (2020: HK$556,000) is
recognised to profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. The loan from a
substantial shareholder is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayment on demand.

DEFERRED TAX

At 31 March 2021, the Group had estimated unused tax
losses of HK$48,803,000 (2020: HK$48,803,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses
have not been agreed by the relevant authorities.

iR e SRR

25 FE(FFEEERER R AIFEEZE
BRESNE - B EE
MIE - REFERERZRE
K REFBEERATNERK
—NFERRER=®

Rl

(@ “ZHRE/EEM 2B REEE
5o

g

=
=

Lt

(b) ZAREEBEHIEERERRZEE
BeRkORESERHEENE PR
ARNCEE2HR - RIKERA=
T—MFEELAZFTNR  ZEMIEER
Ba R BRAFERERZRES R
22,671,000/ 7t }2 823,000/ 7T °

S

I

)

© EBERTEBEEBNR-_T——FHEA-tH
P REBRITESMEETRLEZ
BEX - ZERREEMRERNS - B
ABH RGP B RRME240) -

d ZFEBAERR 2EREFTE—FN
Eig -

(e) R-ZE—N\FLtA-++tH ARAK
Extrawell BVFI:Z— DR R E K % -
A #E A R 4858 5 30,000,0008 T2 B
FTZERK]D BARRAFAIRH51%RIE
(BM15,300,0005% 7T.) K& 5 Extrawell (BVI)
12 #£49% 3K 7 (B114,700,0007%8 JT) ° %
ERAEEE  FHNERAEE% -

EEERYRENZER - RZTE—F
=A=+—8 " # 8% H1,104,000/% T
(ZZ—Z 4 :556,000/87T) BERIEHER
R o

(f) BE_ TR _T-_TF=-A=+—
ALFE KE—NEEREERAE
R BFEREEREE -

26. IE E B 1H
R-_ZE-_—F=F=+—H AEH
HErE R B) 1 15 55 1848,803,000/8
7T (= Z — T 4 : 48,803,000/ 7T)
ARAEEERZER - AR KREETEA
Agsfrie WITEREEHRE
EEERECHEEE -BHER
MR & EIEEE -

£
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AR SRR M A

27. AR EFH
A F BT 2 AT S B 5 B B
DT EHEIMT

27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bonds
issued by the Company for the year is set out below:

LD,

g

Convertible  Convertible  Convertible  Convertible
Bonds | Bonds Il Bonds llI Bonds IV Total
G CE: 3 CIE: 3 CE: 3
e E5= E5= E% EH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT  IBR AR T#R  THR
As at 1 April 2019 RZE-n¥mA—H 120,978 58,195 461,684 17,775 658,632
Effective interest expenses ERMEAX 27,247 8,526 106,418 4,176 146,367
Deemed early redemption of RERFEETRRES
convertible bonds (37,248) (62,358) - - (89,600)
Modification of convertible bonds AR ES - = 27,749 = 27,749
As at 31 March 2020 and ey S -
1 April 2020 RZZ2-Z4WA-H 110,977 14,363 595,851 21,951 743,142
Effective interest expenses ERFISAT 28,986 3,413 130,677 27,094 190,170
As at 31 March 2021 R=ZB--£=Zh=+-H 139,963 17,776 726,528 49,045 933,312

The effective interest rates of all the liability component of
all the convertible bonds ranged from: 23.44% to 26.24%
per annum (2020: 23.44% to 26.24% per annum).

Convertible Bonds |

The Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$436,800,000 and HK$51,200,000
respectively on 25 October 2013 and 27 December 2013
(collectively referred to as “Convertible Bonds 1”) for the
acquisition of Sale CB-I and 450,000,000 ordinary shares
of Extrawell. The Convertible Bonds | with a zero coupon
rate mature on the tenth anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds | entitle the bond holders to convert
them into shares of the Company at any time within 10
years from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds I,
at the conversion price per share of HK$0.40, subject to
anti-dilution clauses.

If the Convertible Bonds | have not been converted, they
will be redeemed at par on the tenth anniversary of the
date of issue.
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FrErERESFNMEAGEHD
MEBRAERN T & F2344% =

26.24% (ZE T F  §FE23.44% %
26.24%) o

—Hﬁ Hﬁf*%—
RKABIRZE—=F+A-+HHKZ

Ef_iwt AZ+tR%{TI®RE
&% B4 % % 5l £436,800,000
7 7T % 51,200,000 7T (/\ﬁaa [ 7] #2 f%
BH ) BEUBGEEITRKRE
% — LA K #5128 #9450,000, ooon i
o ERERMNAIRRES —EET
RHRFETREZARE -

AMEES BT EFFEAER
E’é%éﬁﬂ%@ﬁﬁ%%%*ﬁﬂﬂ?ﬁﬂ—iﬁﬂ%
FFARREZF-BRSAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds | (continued)

The Convertible Bonds | are issued in HK$. The fair values
of the liability component were HK$42,886,000 and
HK$4,981,000 for the Convertible Bonds | issued by the
Company on 25 October 2013 and 27 December 2013
respectively, which has been determined by the discounted
cash flow approach using the prevailing market interest rate
of similar non-convertible bonds and taking into account
the credit risk of the Company. The fair values of the
conversion option of HK$671,267,000 and HK$82,161,000
classified as equity component for the Convertible Bonds
| issued by the Company on 25 October 2013 and 27
December 2013 respectively were calculated using the
Binomial Model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Stock price fiz B
Exercise price TE(E
Discount rate 55 Iﬁ x

Risk-free rate (note a) B % & (Fff 5 a)
Expected volatility (note b) i‘E ,Hﬂ /ﬁ 12 (Bt #Eb)
Expected dividend yield (note c) T8 HA AR B M 2 & (BT 5T c)

iR e SRR

27. TR R B F »)

AR ES— @)

AR ES —ABTET - AQA
W T-——F+A-t+HBAKEK_-Z
— =+ A-t+tHAETHNAER
BREH—DHEBEBS>LRFELHA
42,886,000/ JT K&%4,981,0007% TT -
EBERReREE  FAEHBEMU
éEfﬁﬂﬁHfo%$Eﬁiﬁ/‘ﬁ?ﬁ%%U%EEEEE‘
YHRARBZEERR - "RAARK
:%—E¢+ﬂf+£5&:§—z
¢+—ﬂ—+t5%62ﬂﬁ%%#
—“@%%/ BB EZAFE

vamill 7,%671,267,000;‘%%&82,161,000

B DEBEARAHE - ZE
ABALT
25 October 2013 27 December 2013
—E—= —E—=

+B=+EH +=HA=++H
Principal amount of Principal amount of
HK$436,800,000 HK$51,200,000
436,800,0005% 7T 51,200,0007% 7T
HK$0.91 HK$0.99
0.91%8 T 0.997 7T
HK$0.40 HK$0.40
0.408 T 0.40%8 T
26.12% 26.24%
1.83% 2.32%
86.71% 85.53%
0.00% 0.00%

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will
result in changes in the fair value of the liability component.
The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair
value of the liability component are based on the directors’
best estimate.

Notes:

(a) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

(b) Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past
bond period.

(c) Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the
Company.

BAMAZTE2RABBEEEEM
HE) KEREBRLIAFEEE
il FERBENSIAFEMAEE
REBRDEREZHNREME -

@ ZAXDSENHEERRETERFES
Ko B 5 e e 2 R E

b) EREBEHFBEEAQRRMNBEEBREE -

© REARFANBERBIRMGEFEH -

IS
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AR SRR M A

27.

g

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)
Convertible Bonds | (continuea)

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, none of
the Convertible Bonds | was converted into ordinary shares
of the Company.

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bonds
| for the year is set out below:

27. TR R B F »)

ABBRESE— @
et e e

FAAMKRES—ZBEBI>EDHIE
UM

Principal Carrying
amount amount
PN AREE
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHETT FHET
As at 1 April 2019 RZE—NhLFMNA—H 351,600 120,978
Effective interest expense ERMERAX — 27,247
Deemed early redemption of BRIEREELNTBRRERES
convertible bonds (95,600) (37,248)
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R-—ZE-ZTF=F=+—H
N_Z_ZTFMA—H 256,000 110,977
Effective interest expense ERMERAX - 28,986
As at 31 March 2021 R-—_EBE-_—F=HA=+—H 256,000 139,963
Convertible Bonds II B ESsE—

The Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$64,000,000, HK$64,000,000 and
HK$64,000,000 respectively on 24 April 2014, 30 August
2014 and 31 December 2014 (collectively referred to as
“Convertible Bonds II”) for the acquisition of Sale CB-ll
first batch, second batch and third batch respectively. The
Convertible Bonds Il with zero coupon rate will mature on
the tenth anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds Il entitle the bond holders to
convert them into shares of the Company at any time within
10 years from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds I,
at the initial conversion price per share of HK$0.40, subject
to anti-dilution clauses.

If the Convertible Bonds Il have not been converted, they
will be redeemed at par on the tenth anniversary of the
date of issue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds Il «continuea)

The Convertible Bonds Il are issued in HK$. The fair
values of the liability component were HK$6,622,000,
HK$6,916,000 and HK$7,577,000 for the Convertible Bonds
Il issued by the Company on 24 April 2014, 30 August
2014 and 31 December 2014 respectively, which has
been determined by the discounted cash flow approach
using the prevailing market interest rate of similar non-
convertible bonds and taking into account the credit risk
of the Company. The fair values of the conversion option
of HK$131,454,000, HK$118,983,000 and HK$112,597,000
classified as equity component for the Convertible Bonds |
issued by the Company on 24 April 2014, 30 August 2014

iR e SRR

27. TR R B F »)

ARKBES
AR ESR B ITETT c KRARIRZ
T—mEPA=+IE —E—mEN
A=+tBE-_ZE—WNF+=-_HA=+—H
FTEs1TA R R ES N EaEIHH A F
B4 B156,622,0005 7T + 6,916,000/
JTK7,577000/%8 T il i ARIRIR &
mEE - FMABLIETTRERESFHIR
ﬁ%%ﬂT#E Wt RARRIZEE
Rk - AATR-E— EEEH—+E
a -z EEAH +tAR=—T—
F+-—A=+— E%ﬁZTﬁkﬁ%
—oBAEERE BREZ ATFES
R 4131,454,0005% 7T + 118,983,000%

and 31 December 2014 respectively were calculated using
Binomial Model. The inputs into the model were as follows: JC K112,597,000/8 ¢ - JhiE B — B

BEAFE - ZBRAW@AMT

24 April 2014 30 August 2014 31 December 2014

“E-MEF “E-|EF “E-NE§

MAZ+MmA NB=+H +=-B=t+—H

Principal amount  Principal amount Principal amount

of HK$64,000,000 of HK$64,000,000 of HK$64,000,000

PN X x&H biNc R ]

64,000,0007% 7T 64,000,0007% 7T 64,000,0007% T

Stock price 1B HK$1.42 HK$1.19 HK$1.16
1425 T 1198 T 11658 7T

Exercise price TEE HK$0.40 HK$0.40 HK$0.40
0.40% T 0408 T 0408 T

Discount rate EE f% 25.46% 24.92% 23.78%
Risk-free rate (note a) Pz 1 2= (Bfi 3t a) 2.20% 1.84% 1.85%
Expected volatility (note b) TE Hﬂ /Fi 18 (P ¥ b) 84.57% 82.53% 80.79%
Expected dividend yield (note ¢) ~ FEER AR 2 M 35 R (M 5 c) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will BXMAZCEEB ASBEEEM

result in changes in the fair value of the liability component. By BEREKLL>LAFEZEE
The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair g srEREL ’”‘iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ“ =3
value of the liability component are based on the directors’ &R *“TjﬁBAé% BB EHAET ©
best estimate.
5. ) %
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27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds Il continuea)
Notes:

(@) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

(b) Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past
bond period.

(c) Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the
Company.

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, none
of the Convertible Bonds Il was converted into ordinary
shares of the Company.

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bond Il
for the year is set out below:

27. A R EF o
BE{@HQE%:(@)
e

@ ZANXDSERGHERRETERFES
KA R REE -
() ERNEFBREARTNBEBRKIE

© BREAXANBERSIEKMGEHSEE -

ai—g:_E&—Y — = E:
=+—HLEFE UEABRRKRESZ
EHIRKARAI LB -

nu

FABRBRESF —_REBIZE
SIE T

Principal Carrying
amount amount
K& 5 REE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT
As at 1 April 2019 RZE—NLFMHA—H 192,000 58,195
Effective interest expenses B E S H — 8,526
Deemed early redemption of BIERFER AR RKRES
convertible bonds (152,400) (52,358)
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R - -ZTF=F=+—H
—E-FFMA—H 39,600 14,363
Effective interest expenses ERAEXZH — 3,413
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZEBE-—H=H=+—H 39,600 17,776
Convertible Bonds Il AR ES=
The Company issued convertible bonds to its associate, ARARERZZE—NELA=-+/\H

Extrawell, in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$715,000,000 on 28 July 2014 (collectively referred to
as “Convertible Bonds IlI”) as part of the consideration
paid to acquire of 51% equity interest in Smart Ascent. The
Convertible Bonds Il with coupon rate of 3.5% per annum
will mature on the seventh anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds Ill entitle the bond holders to
convert them into shares of the Company at any time within
7 years from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds lll,
at the initial conversion price per share of HK$2.50, subject
to anti-dilution clauses.

17K G #8558 A715,000,0008 7T 2
AMiRES(ARIATMERES=D T
HEEE N RBE  EAAS MU E
HEESIBREZRE TR ES=
ZEBEEBRE3L% - WHEREITH
HRsFtBAFERRE -

AMEESF=BTEFRHEAER
RETABRKRES=—"AHRLFER
BRI BRERESF =—"BRRARA
Pfn - M EE ST RH2.50/8
T AR REEGRRES o

E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds Il continued)

If the Convertible Bonds Il has not been converted, they
will be redeemed at par on the seventh anniversary of the
date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds Il are issued in HK$. The fair value
of the liability component was HK$233,547,000 for the
Convertible Bonds Il issued by the Company on 28 July
2014, which has been determined by the discounted cash
flow approach using the prevailing market interest rate of
similar non-convertible bonds and taking into account the
credit risk of the Company. The fair value of the conversion
option of HK$136,646,000 classified as equity component
for the Convertible Bonds Il issued by the Company on 28
July 2014 was calculated using Binomial Model. The inputs
into the model were as follows:

Stock price BB
Exercise price 1TE(E
Discount rate Ah IR &
Risk-free rate (note a) = [ b K1 X
Expected volatility (note b) T8 HA R i (B 3

Expected dividend yield (note c)

H) 1.63%
Ib)
< (P

EHRE LIﬁZfE

iR e SRR

27. TR R B F »)

AR ESR=w
WAl EHR = REE®R - AlFR
FTHHRHECRETERZEET
LABEE] o

AR ESEZABIITEIT AR
RZE—NF+L /A _+NHETZ
IMREF=NEEX» N AFE
#233,547,00078 7T * ThE B AL IE
AMBREFMNIRITHIG AN RIZEIR
Iﬁimé;ﬁ%ﬁi'ﬁﬁaﬁﬁzﬁﬁﬂ
MNEERR ARaR_ZT—N4F
+A= +}\EI§F6“ZHH@<H§%#£
DHEAEERBIBRBREZATESR
136646000/%7n TERABAZEAE
NetE - ZEXAMBALT :

28 July 2014
—E-—mF
+tA=+N\AH
Principal

amount of
HK$715,000,000
L8
715,000,000 7T

HK$1.27
1.2778 7T
HK$2.50
2.50% 7T

24.67%

80.04%

B aEc) 0.00%

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will
result in changes in the fair value of the liability component.
The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair
value of the liability component are based on the directors’
best estimate.

Notes:

(a) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

(b) Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past
bond period.

(c) Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the
Company.

*EﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁZIxﬁﬁ)\%ﬂF%’ﬁiEﬁ

28 KEAZRERS AT EBLR
o HERESS AFEMALE

R EﬁﬁA%$E’JK&1ﬁﬁ

@ BAMEXD2ERHEERREBRFES
Ko JEE 2 o U 55 R E o

b) EREFHBARFNBEERRE -

© REBADTEBER LKA (3G -

€
20215 % FEMBRREVMBEERAT 129
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE BT RARMIEE

27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds Il continuea)

On 28 October 2019, the Company completed the
amendment of the term and condition of the Convertible
Bond Il with Extrawell. Under the amendment, Extrawell
agreed the due date for annual interest payment of
HK$25,025,000 due on 27 July 2019, 2020 and 2021
amended to on or before 28 July 2021; and additional
interest of HK$11,261,250 shall be paid by the Company
on 28 July 2021. Detail of the amendments of the term
and condition of the Convertible Bond Il are set out in the
Company'’s circular dated 13 September 2019.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2021, none
of the Convertible Bonds Il was converted into ordinary
shares of the Company.

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bond
[l for the year is set out below:

27. A R EF o
AMBRELFE= 2
RZZE—NE+AZ+/N\B  KQF
TR BB EET AR RES = HIER
MG - IBRIEER] BERESN=
T-NEF ZEZTEFRT=—F
+ A=+ B 3|8 & {F /925,025,000
BITHMEFENBNZEPERE T
——FtAZ+NBHZE RAR
RIAR-_ZE-_—F+A-+NBXfM
IR B11,261,25058 7T ° & 5] A4k
BEHF =GR EEGZFBHAETR
AAMAZE-NFAAT=HZA
\il °

HE_Z2-_ 2K -_FT-_—F=AH
—+t—HIEFE TEANBERES=
WEBAKRKATELEE -

FRABRKRESF=2BEHRIZEH
SIE AT

Principal Carrying

amount amount

K& BREE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAT FAT

As at 1 April 2019 R-TE—AEMA—A 715,000 461,684

Interest expense paid EXNFERX - 106,418

Modification of convertible bonds BRIk E % - 27,749

As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R=—ZE=_FF = A=+ —H

N_TE_TFMHA—H 715,000 595,851

Interest expense paid EXfFERAX — 130,677

As at 31 March 2021 R-ZE-—F=A=+—H 715,000 726,528
Convertible Bonds IV agiRESEM

The Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$64,000,000 on 30 April 2015
(collectively referred to as “Convertible Bonds 1V”) for the
acquisition of Sale CB-IlI fourth batch. The Convertible
Bonds IV with zero coupon rate will mature on the tenth
anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds IV entitle the bond holders to
convert them into shares of the Company at any time within
10 years from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds 1V,
at the initial conversion price per share of HK$0.40, subject
to anti-dilution clauses.

ARARER-_ZE—RFWHA=1THH
177" & #2858 /364,000,000/% JT 2 AJ #&
BEH(ERIABRABREFM]) - A
BEOMFETRRES - - TER
R AR BE 77 T AS 0 2 1T A AR AT
ETRFEBRDH -

AR EFOE T ESREE AER
RETARRESFIARR+FRA
BE B % A] #2 AR M 25 U 88 2 3 AN R A
Befn - AR (E R B {10.4078
T AR REERKRS



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds IV (continuea)

If the Convertible Bonds IV have not been converted, they
will be redeemed at par on the tenth anniversary of the
date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds IV are issued in HK$. The fair
value of the liability component was HK$7,790,000 for the
Convertible Bonds IV issued by the Company on 30 April
2015, which has been determined by the discounted cash
flow approach using the prevailing market interest rate of
similar non-convertible bonds and taking into account the
credit risk of the Company. The fair value of the conversion
option of HK$109,371,000 classified as equity component
for the Convertible Bonds IV issued by the Company on 30
April 2015 was calculated using Binomial Model.

The inputs into the model were as follows:

Stock price BB
Exercise price 1TE(E

Discount rate AL IR &
Risk-free rate (note a)

Expected volatility (note b)
Expected dividend yield (note c)

4 3 fg | R
¥ 13 % 12 (i

iR e SRR

27. TR R B F »)

AR ES N

R AT AR (B 5 PO R g s 4 - Al g8 0 2%
THERETETAFTFERRERET
LABEE] o

AR ESENAE LT - XA
—E—RFMNAZTHBEITZAIBRRE
H R B EID A FE A7,790,000
BT D RBEUETTRRESNE
TMGMEIRMBARESREEETE -
WEFAEARFNEERR - AAF
R-E—RFMA=+HETZA#H
BESUDERERIOBRBEZD
F{& £109,371,0007 7T © JhER A =18
NEAXFE o

ZEAMmBAMT

30 April 2015
—E—FF
B=+H

Principal

amount of
HK$64,000,000
L8
64,000,000 T

HK$1.16
1167 7T
HK$0.40
0.407% 7T

23.44%

iFa) 1.48%
b) 79.49%
T8 HARAS B U %5 E (M 5Ec) 0.00%

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will
result in changes in the fair value of the liability component.
The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair
value of the liability component are based on the directors’
best estimate.

R HR 2 EWA BB AR
2% BEBAFHHATEE LS
ft-HERENHATEFPAES
BRDEREEN S EHE -

€
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR ISR M
27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continve) 27. AR EFH =)
Convertible Bonds IV (continveq) AR fE 5 o)
Notes: Bt 3 -
(@)  The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong (a) ZMERD2ERGHEAHEBRFES
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation. REHFHWREERET -
(b)  Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past (b) ERBFHABMARAABEEREKE -
bond period.
(c)  Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the () IREARFANBARBIRMNGBEEL -
Company.
During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2021, none HE_ZT-_ZTFR-_F-—F=AH
of the Convertible Bonds IV was converted into ordinary =+—HLEFE  WEABRRKRESD
shares of the Company. WEIR A KN EBK -
The movement of liability component of Convertible Bond FRABRRESFN BRSO 2 EF
IV for the year is set out below: HIF AT -
Principal Carrying
amount amount
& REE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T AT
As at 1 April 2019 RZE—NLFMHA—H 64,000 17,775
Effective interest expense ERMNEMAX — 4,176

As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R - -ZTF=F=+—H

%H

—E-FFMA—H 64,000 21,951
Effective interest expense EBRFMERAX — 27,094
As at 31 March 2021 R-—BE-—%=HF=+-—H 64,000 49,045

)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

28. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:
50,000,000,000 ordinary shares

ETE

iR e SRR

28. R

2021
—E-—F

2020
—E-FF

HK$’000
T

HK$’000
TR

50,000,000,000% & % @ (&

of HK$0.01 each 001 T2 EBR 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEERITREHR:
1,464,193,024 ordinary shares 1,464,193,024/% & R A&
of HK$0.01 each 0.0 T 2 L @Ak 14,642 14,642

As at 31 March 2021, the maximum number of shares
issuable upon conversion of all outstanding convertible
bonds issued by the Company is 1,805,000,000 (2020:
1,805,000,000).

29. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of
the scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustees. The Group and each
employee employed in Hong Kong are required to make
a contribution of 5% on the employees’ monthly relevant
income with a maximum monthly contribution of HK$1,500
per person.

The PRC employees of the Group are members of a state-
managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the local
government. The Group is required to contribute a specific
percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to
make the specified contributions.

W-_EBE-_—F=A=+—0 &g
FTERARRBERITZRITHEZA
BERESBZAITFETRSRHOE
B A1,805,000,0000 (ZE - T & :
1,805,000,0000%) °

EIKE RS
AEBATEAELECEREER LR
SlIEREEHE -  ZFB2EES
BRXEAAENEcHAER
BESHAFER AEBREBREBA
ENREEVREZEEBABEBEAZ
5% - A ®AR LR AS A1,500
BT °

29.

AEETHEEREHRFLEELZ
BERABNAEZKE - NREEA
REBZHERAMIEEA DR
A% R REF G HR - (FXER
MzBE - AR ENZEKRREF G
T ERELEEERNK -

S
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE BT RARMIEE

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Dr. Mao and Dr. Xie have beneficial non-controlling interest
in the shares of the Company. In addition, they have
joint control of a company which has shareholding of the
Company giving it significant influence over the Company.
Save as those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group has entered into the
following related party transactions:

Service fee expense paid and B R ERFARA
payable to Dr. Mao, a shareholder REREBLZ

30.FAEALRS
EBLEHBLIRARBBROPHEA
BRI - o REKFRE
H — A AR R R AR E
BEAXENZRT - RiEaWE®R
REMBEMAEEEIN  AEECHE
TUTHEALRS:

2021
—_E_—F

2020
—E-EF
HK$’000
F& T

HK$’000
TERT

of the Company (Note i) AR 7% & 2 (M9 5E0) 672 672

Loan from Dr. Mao, a substantial REARA—EERE
shareholder of the Company (Note i)  E1&+ 2 & 3% (M 5ii) 20,000 7,000
20,672 7,672

Key management compensation: TEERE 2R

Short-term employee benefits HHEB 2B 2,538 3,246
Post-employment benefits BE IS 12 48 7 8 28
2,546 3,274

Notes:

(i) This transaction constitutes continuing connected transaction
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is exempted from the
reporting and disclosure requirement pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of
the Listing Rules.

(ii) The loan from a shareholder is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayment on demand (2020: unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayment on demand).

CEE

(i) WIHIER BN ETH R E14AEETH
SEMBXZEREETLETARAUNE
4ATEMHRBTHRERBEERTE -

(i) RE-MUBRRZERRERR  EFNE
REEKER(CE-TF &EF &
B RIZERERE) -
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iR e SRR

31. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 31. XARKWEB A AGFH1E
OF THE COMPANY

Place of

incorporation/  Place of Registered/issued Principal
registration operation paid-up capital Percentage of ownership interest/voting power activities
it fit i 5 EENE B/ ERTHARRA REEREL /REBZESM TEER

2021 2020

—E-_-% S
Directly Indirectly  Directly  Indirectly
Ef A& ER f%

Lucky Full Holdings Limited British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share 100% - 100% —  Investment holding
Islands Islands
BRERARAR EEERRES EBABRES 1ERLAR REARRKR
Clear Rich International Limited  British Virgin British Virgin USS$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Islands Islands
RERRERATA AEEBRES EBABEREE 1ZTLER REZR
China United Gene Health Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% S 100%  Trading of beauty
Limited equipment and
products
ZERCERRBRELERAR B4 Bk BTEER FRRBRERER
Mega Fortune Corporation Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited Bk Bk ERLRR REER
First Team Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% S 100%  Investment holding
Bk Bk BTERER REER
Multi-Wealth Investment Limited  Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
i i 1ETERK REBR
Able Earn Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% S 100%  Investment holding
EERERRAR Bk B ETEBR REARR
Top Nice Holdings Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Securities
investment
EREERRAR B Bk BTEBER EARE
Mega Cedar Group Limited British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share - 100% S 100%  Investment
Islands Islands holding and
securities
investment
RBERREE EBUBEREE 1ELLER REBRRES
RA

'S
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31. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 31. XARIMBARIFEw
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Perfect Net Limited

New Wonder Limited

Rankup Holdings Limited

Marvel Wonder Global Limited

East Longmark (Note a)

REM (W)

Shanghai Honglian Investment
Advisory Limited (Note b)

LRLERERAERAA
(F3tb)

Smart Ascent (Note c)

4 (Mo

Fosse Bio (Note ¢)

t

H

(B &Ec)

ol

i

Place of
incorporation/
registration
AL/
ot {4 56

British Virgin
Islands
EBAARES
British Virgin
Islands
REEBRES
British Virgin
Islands
EELBRES
British Virgin
Islands

AEREARESR

PRC

hE

PRC

il

Hong Kong
3

Hong Kong

B

Place of
operation

EEME

British Virgin
Islands
AERARES
British Virgin
Islands
ARABARES
British Virgin
Islands
EBEAARES
British Virgin
Islands
EBEBRES

PRC

HE

PRC

PE

Hong Kong
5

PRC

Registered/issued
paid-up capital

it/ BRAHRRE

2021
—E-_-%
Directly Indirectly
E# A&
US$1 ordinary share - 100%
1ETEAR
USS$1 ordinary share - 100%
ETEAR
USS$1 ordinary share - 100%
1ETEBR
USS$1 ordinary share - 100%
1XTEER
HK$28 million - 100%
registered capital
28,000,000 ¢
HM AR
HK$3.5 million - 100%
registered capital
3,500,000/ 1T
HMER
HK$10,000 ordinary - 51%
shares
10,0007 70 & i
HK$100,000 ordinary - 26.01%
shares
100,000 T & @ Kk

BEERE/REEZEAM

2020

Directly
B

7%
Indirectly
ik

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Principal

Percentage of ownership interest/voting power activities

IERH

Investment
holding
RERR

Investment
holding
REER

Investment
holding
RERR

Investment
holding
RERR

Provision of
genetic testing
services

REERIHA RS

Inactive

TR

Investment
holding
REEK

Development and
commercialisation
of oral insulin
products

RERBERLOR
REREMD
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iR e SRR

31. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 31. AARKMEB AR FEE»

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Place of

incorporation/  Place of
registration operation
it fit i 5 EENHY

Registered/issued
paid-up capital

it/ BRTAZRA

Welly Surplus (Note ¢) Hong Kong PRC HK$100 ordinary
shares

RA ) £ i 1007 70 & 5 B

Nation Joy Industries Limited  British Virgin British Virgin US$10,000 ordinary

(Note ¢) Islands Islands shares
BEHEXARAA(FEc)  HEBABRES HEABRHEE  10000XTEBR

Notes:

(@) East Longmark is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in
the PRC on 24 November 2011 for a period of thirty years.

(b) Shanghai Honglian Investment Advisory Limited is a wholly foreign-
owned enterprise established in the PRC on 26 January 2015 for a
period of thirty years.

(@] These companies became subsidiaries of the Company upon
completion of Acquisition on 28 July 2014.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affect the financial results of the year or formed
a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Principal

Percentage of ownership interest/voting power activities

BEREL/ RERZEAL X331
2021

ZBC-F 2
Directly Indirectly  Directly Indirectly
Ef A& BR %

- 26.01% - 26.01%  Inactive
FER
- 51% - 51%  Inactive
R

Mo -

@ FREERSKRR-_ZT——F+—-A-+HEA
EPBEKz2E2ERE  RE=1
£ o

b) LEBELEREFZRNEBRIABDAR=-ZT
—RAE—A-t+XNABEFBERIZIE
2ERE RE=1F-

() WEARER=-_ZTE—NFLA=+N\H
ZWBEREXBARRZHBAR -

ARBIEZRS  LREBBYAE
BARERIUBEEEERTEL
BREEFEIZHIZMBLAF -
MR EMHBAR ZH#E  EF
ARREERBEANITE -

IS
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AR SRR M A

31. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

o

2

138

,<‘—;

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
outstanding at the end of the year or any time during the
year.

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling
interests:

Proportion of
ownership
Place of incorporation interests held
and principal place of by non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests

E A AL FERERFBEEZ

HEAREM TELEHY RERERE LA
2021 2020
—E--&F —E-ZTF Z

Smart Ascent (Note) Hong Kong 49% 49%
A (F3E) e

Fosse Bio (Note) Hong Kong/PRC 73.99% 73.99%
2t (Fff &%) B/ W

CNL (Pinghu) PRC - 30%
A (CF#) H

Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with non-controlling
interests

BERFERER
1lﬁHE§j<TT

1. X2 EIM B AR FE B

PAZREF [ 5T 4% IR X5 A ] A ] b st
Mﬂ% AR EEARER 2BEBE

Eﬁ“r

TRANAEE R ERIIERE
BmZHFEEHBAR

Loss and other
comprehensive loss
allocated to Accumulated
non-controlling non-controlling
interests interests
PETFHFERER
ZEERHEMZEEE Rt FERER
2021 2020 2021 2020
—§ “Z-TF "BC-F “T-%F
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FHET BT FHT

(735) (267)  (6,964) (6,229)

(3,782) (9,757) 960,254 964,036

(144) (914) - (2,984)

(2,555) (407) 768 3,323

(7,216) (11,345) 954,058 958,146

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2021 Annual Report



31. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests
is set out below. The summarised financial information below

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e SRR

31. XQ T M B AR F B

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations. n 7 EEE #J E’\J SH o
SAL Group EER
2020
—E_—F —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FET
Current assets mBEE 5,082 7,220
Non-current assets EMREBEE 1,373,409 1,373,657
Current liabilities REaE (46,312) (46,319)
Non-current liabilities EmEBME (47,575) (39,298)
Equity attributable to owners ZAN/NEIE? F SN
of the Company FEAL #E = 336,906 340,490
Non-controlling interests FEIT IR HE 2 947,698 954,770
Revenue I = - —
Expenses (3 (10,095) (14,386)
Loss and total comprehensive FABEBLE
expense for the year X 4 &8 (10,069) (14,375)
Loss and total comprehensive EBEKEERAX
expense attributable to BERE
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIE SN 2,998 3,943
Non-controlling interests I ¥ s #E 7 7,071 10,432
10,069 14,375
Net cash outflow REEES 2
from operating activities Bent F58 (10,020) (12,957)
Net cash inflow REEEEz
from financing activities Be R A HRE 7,284 17,593
There are no net cash flows from investing and financing KRECREZHYEEARESRE
activities. R o S
E° ' %
202155 FEMBEREVBEAERLT 139 -
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RE BT RARMIEE

31. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 31. XARIMBARIFEw
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

CNL (Pinghu) o far (SEOH)
2020
—ETF
HK$'000
FE T
Current assets mENE E 1,073
Non-current assets EMEEE —
Current liabilities mEAE (2,337)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE S
Equity attributable to owners of the ARG B AEGEEZ
Company (3,048)
Non-controlling interests FE1E IR 2 3,376
Other income HAab g A 3
Expenses il % (3,048)
Loss and total comprehensive expense £ N & 18 &
for the year 2HAS B (3,045)
Loss and total comprehensive expense & 18 & & M F &2
attributable to RERB
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIE =N (2,131)
Non-controlling interests FEVE R A 2 (914)
(3,045)
Net cash outflow from operating REEEEE 2
activities WE ML FE =
Net cash inflow from RIEEEE 2
investing activities WEmAFRE —

There are no cash flows from investing a
activities.

nd financing

REMBETHUEELRSRE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR ISR MR
32. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 2. KX Az UHBEH
COMPANY
2020
—E_FHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FAET
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENRB - 35
Investment in subsidiary RHEBARNKRE —
Right-of-use assets FREEE 1,000 3,000
1,000 3,035
Current assets MBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other BNRIE  EE2 R
receivables H b & W 5K IR 585 560
Amounts due from group companies — FE U & B A & 2 5 IE 377,852 367,992
Bank balances and cash BrTEs R 6,665 11,891
385,102 380,443
Current liabilities mEBaE
Lease liabilities HE&E 1,026 1,974
Accruals and other payables FE &t B A & B fth FE 1 X 1,260 1,225
Loan from shareholder RKEBREREER 20,000 7,000
Convertible bond Al % 1B & 726,528 =
748,814 10,199
Net current (liabilities)/assets nE (Bl BAEFHE (363,712) 370,244
Total asset less current liabilities REERRSEE (362,712) 373,279
Non-current liabilities EmEBE
Convertible bonds Al 2 % (& & 206,784 743,142
Lease liabilities HEAE - 1,026
Total non-current liabilities EREBEERE 206,784 744,168
Net liabilities BEFE (569,496) (370,889)
Capital and reserves BARKRFEE
Share capital L 14,642 14,642
Reserves (ERi= (584,138) (385,531)
Total equity 1% B (569,496) (370,889)

The financial statements were approved by the Board of
Directors on 29 June 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Jiang Nian
BE
DIRECTOR
EE

MBEHRAREHEFEN T _—FX
AZt+hB#E IHUTESEKRE

52
Tang Rong
3
DIRECTOR
- S
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RE BT RARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 2. ARTA U BE R =
CO M PANY (Continued)
Reserve of the Company AR 2iR®E
Convertible
Share equity Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
g
B 12 % (8 A REtE B #at
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TAT TAL TAL FHBT
As at 1 April 2019 RZZE—NF
MA—H 1,119,294 1,152,862 (2,446,568) (174,412)
Loss and total comprehensive FREE N 2 HE S
expense for the year 8 = - (204,942) (204,942)
Deemed early redemption of 18 {EI2 F & [l
convertible bonds AR ES - (440,824) 434,647 (6,177)
Modification of convertible & ok AT iR & &
bonds — (136,646) 136,646 -
As at 31 March 2020 and N-ZB-TFE
1 April 2020 ZA=+—-8k
mA—AH 1,119,294 575,392  (2,080,217) (385,531)
Loss and total comprehensive A& E k2 EFX
expense for the year FEE — — (198,606) (198,606)
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZBZ-F
=HA=+-—H 1,119,294 575,392 (2,278,823) (584,137)
2
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

33.&€4mITH
SRMIEER

2021 2020
—EB-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Financial assets tWMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL R FEGAEDZ
Trade receivables 5 MW R R 15,323 15,608
Deposits and other receivables Be &k E AW IR 4,485 3,642
Bank balances and cash RITHEBNIRS 8,992 22,936
Total #Et 28,800 42,186
Financial liabilities at amortised cost — ZE#H K X5 £ F B &
Convertible bonds Al 2 % (& & 933,312 743,142
Trade payables =Y NN 5,479 10,253
Accruals and other payables FEETE AR B E N IR 1,686 5,140
Amounts due to non-controlling JE < IE 25 A% M 25 FN A
interests 3,092 3,092
Loans from a non-controlling interest R B JEIE R E R E X 20,929 20,929
Amounts due to former FE AT BT FE 45 AR M 2 SR TE
non-controlling interests 823 823
Amount due to a former associate FET R B & R B RIA 41,947 41,947
Loan from a substantial shareholder HRE—fITERFE K 20,000 7,000
Loan from a former associate RE KA ERFERK 16,118 15,383
Total #Et 1,043,386 847,709
0

202155 EMBERAEVBEFRALT 143
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33.

FIFSERAR ML

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continue)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables, bank balances, loans from
non-controlling interests, trade payables, other payables,
amounts due to non-controlling interests, amounts due to
former non-controlling interests, loan from a substantial
shareholder, loan from a former associate and convertible
bonds. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable trade and
other receivables and bank balances for current period and
prior year.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is the carrying amounts of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The credit risk on the Group’s bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for the
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures. In addition, management reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt
regularly to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
recognised for irrecoverable debts.

33.&@ T A

MEERBEEBFERBE

AEEZTESRIABRESRK
BRA - HMUGRIE - RITHERR 2R
BIFERERER EHRMNKRN
HAth FEAT 5K IR - B A SR 4% PR 2 3R
B~ AT SRIERE S KE  RE—
NEBBRRER  RE—KATBEQ
AERNABEES - ZFeMIA
ZHABREBMERE - BZF5E®
TEAHEZRBREBENERER 7
ERRLRBESRAR - MA KW
] 48R % F A R R BN T XX e
B EEE K ER%SRE B ARER
Al B B RO RT R E R 1R b e

FERE
AEBEZEERRTEREAHME R
SERFE 2 B 5 RUR R N E At FE W
FIANRITAER o

R-E-_—F=A=+—H A&EH
FFEE & AEERR(EARSH
FAREBITEEMSAE B AET K
BR)EEAMBRARIE 2KIE
ERRACEMEECEREEE -

HRRZHE T ASBEREEFREE
FERBEEFR BT BAE
BRTTHEBZEERREAR °

SEEREKEERR  ARETERE
EXTEEETEERE  FEHZ
MEMEREFZER - 1L - B
Ee T MENSENEREB 2K
O & %8 - DARE R BL S AT U [B1 & 75 7 3R
RHBERE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables, all sales made to major
customer who have been given short credit terms. These
credit evaluations focus on the customers’ past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customer operates. The average credit period granted
to the customers was 90 days (2020: 90 days). As at 31
March 2021, the carrying amount of trade receivables was
concentrated on one (2020: one) customer. The Group
will make specific provision for those balances which
cannot be recovered. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers. In the opinion of the directors,
the default risk faced by the Group is considered to be low.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position after deducting
any impairment allowance. The Group does not provide
financial guarantee which would expose the Group to credit
risk.

The Group applied the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected credit loss allowance for all accounts receivables.
To measure the expected credit losses, accounts
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.

iR e SRR

33.£€M T B

BEERREEAEREE®

FEERK®

NESEWERME  MEHEESRE
EXFHRLTEHEESR %25
BEdAERYNHBREZAER
8 URBRIZEMEN  UEER
FURBRFESE 7 L EIREREZ
BEEM MEFEINTEHEES
BIOKR(ZEZEF :90K) - RZE
——H®ZA=+—H BHEKEX
ZEEEEFR—RZ(ZE_TF: —
B)RFE - AEEBAEEEZWED ZFE
WEHBRFHRSERE - —RME T
AEBTERARFKREUERR - EF
RE AEEABZEHNRR AR -

T B ) &% = 15 B 2 B 45 40 Bk (2 ARk
ERBREEMHBNRAXRATHSE
MEEMER@E ASBEIEREH
158 7 5 B [ e 1S B L B ) B 5 4
& °

RSB ERE B MG HREEAFSNR
ZEIET A ERMEREER K
AT REESRERENBEREER
BiERE - Rt ERYEERE &
WERERBREZEERREHK
BHIRE R -

No Y

S,
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33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)
Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past year. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables.

The credit quality of other receivables excluding
prepayments has been assessed with reference to
historical information about the counterparties default rates
and financial position of the counterparties. The directors
are of the opinion that the credit risk of other receivables is
low due to the sound collection history of the receivables
due from them. Therefore, expected credit loss rate of the
other receivables excluding prepayments is assessed to be
close to zero and no provision was made as of 31 March
2021 and 2020.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. In addition to issuance of new shares, the Group
also relies on convertible bonds as a significant source of
liquidity for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

The Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by approximately HK$771,873,000 as at 31 March 2021
(2020: HK$28,354,000).

33.&@ T A

BREREEEERKE®

FEERK®
BHEBEBIERBE—"F2ERE
BRBHE - BEBERTUAARIN
EMEERFEERIKGRIARINE
AEBKERENER RATE LS
ko

H i G IB (TR IEEMNRIE)ME
EEENKE2EEBRGFENER
RGFHBEMRANELERFTE - B
EREEMERRENEERRIE
3 Th R A FE UR 1% S5 IR MY IR FR D B
Bt o Btk - B EWHRIB(TERE
ERREBE)NEREERBETGED
BAWE BEHZ-_ZE-_—FK_-F
—TEE-ZA=+ BV EIREE -

REE SRR
REEBRDESRRE  ~NEEE
RREHE—EKRFEZReRREEE
Y MEBBEZKEENAKRER
CEBREES  URBRLRER
ERCEE REBEEZ-_—FK
—E-_EE=RA=1+—-BLEE" &
BITHR DN - NEB I ERB A AR
BEHEEARBDESZEERIR -

REFBWN-_ZE-_—F=A=1+—HBZHR
B EBLEREE E4771,873,000
B on(Z B = &F 128,354,000
JC) °
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continuea)
The following table details the Group’s contractual maturity
for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the

33.£€M T B
BEERREEAEREE®

RBESEKR
TRFMAEB ZITESRAR
2% IJE@B(LAT;?;’JE%?XEIHEE@

agreed repayment dates. The table includes both interest B -ZxBEMNEEAEBERN
and principal cash flows. g o
Liquidity risk tables mBE 2 R X

Carrying
Weighted  On demand Total amount at
average  or less than 3 months to 1 year to Over undiscounted 31 March
interest rate 1month  1-3 months 1 year 5 years 5years  cash flows 2021
RZB=-%
RERT, A% ZA=t-R
mETHRE  SR-ER -E=@EA =fRE-§ -£2i% BBIE RemELH ZRAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR ThR ThR TER THAR ThR TEn
31 March 2021 ERI-EZA=t-R
Non-derivative financial FIESBER

liabilities

Trade payables BAEMER - 5,479 - - - - 5,479 5,479
Other payables AR - 1,686 - - - - 1,686 1,686
Amount due to non- ERFARERNE
controlling interests - 3,092 - - - - 3,092 3,002
Amounts due to former B A ERERRE
non-controlling
interests - 823 - - - - 823 823
Amount due to a former ERABEATHE
associate - 41,947 - - - - 41,947 41,947
Loan from a non- REGFERERER
controlling interest - 20,929 - - - - 20,929 20,929
Loan from a substantial RE-MEERRER
shareholder - 20,000 - - - - 20,000 20,000
Loan from a former REABERAER
associate 5.00 - - - 18,375 - 18,375 16,118
Convertible bonds mERER 20.57 - - 801,405 359,600 - 1,161,005 933,312
Lease liabilties HEEE 5.37 184 368 584 - - 1,136 1,118
94,140 368 801,989 371,975 - 1,274,472 1,044,504
20215 FEMBEREVNEERLRT 147 =
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continveq) 33. €@ T HEw»
Financial risk management objectives and BREEREBEEEZEREE®
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBELRAKR®
Liquidity risk tables (continued) mBERREX®E

Weighted  On demand or Total Carrying
average less than 3 months to 1yearto Over  undiscounted amount at
interest rate Tmonth  1-3 months 1 year 5 years 5 years cash flows

S#-BF -Z=B Z@AZ-§ -%EEF  BEEF %
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T AT Tan TAR TAT  TAR

31 March 2020 “Z2-%3F=A=1-H
Non-derivative financial FiTEeBAE
liabilities
Trade payables BAENER = 10,253 - - - - 10,253 10,253

Other payables MR - 5,140 = = = = 5,140 5,140
Amount due to non- EfEERERTE
controling interests = 3,092 = = = = 3,092 3,092
Amounts due to former ERpEERESTA
non-controlling
interests = 823 = = = = 823 823
Amount due to the ERBEAFZHE
subsidiary of an INGEV:
assaciate = 4,947 = = = = 1,07 4,947
Loan from a non- REFEREZER
controling interest = 20,929 = = = = 20,929 20,929
Loan from a shareholder IRRER - 7,000 - - - - 7,000 7,000
Loan from a former
associate 5.00 - - - 18,375 - 18,375 15,383
Convertible bonds ERER 20.57 - - - 1,097,005 64,000 1,161,005 743,142
Lease liabilties HERE 5.7 - 511 1,900 1,128 - 3,539 3,39
89,184 511 1,900 1,116,508 64,000 1,272,103 851,105
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are BELKEMEERATFEFEZ
measured at fair value on a recurring basis rEEERMEEZLATE
All financial assets and liabilities are carried at amounts FrEemEERBEZIRSHEER
not materially different from their fair values as at 31 March RBE - FR-_E-FF=A=+—
2021 and 2020. AZAFTEITRERER -
5
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34. NOTES SUPPORTING THE CONSOLIDATED 34. %8R e R ERK =
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: MEEHEANBGEHER:

Loan from Loans Loans
anon- from a from a
Lease controlling substantial former  Convertible
liabilities interest shareholder associate bonds Total
(Note 23)  (Note 25) (Note 25)  (Note 25) (Note 27)

REFER RE-EIE RAMNKHE
HEAE BHEX KRREX LFTER TRRES At
(M£23)  (M&E25) (W&E25)  (K&E25) (M&£27)
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TR TAT TAT TET TET

As at 31 March 2019 RZZE-NF=A

=1+-—H — 20,929 25,000 5,027 658,632 709,588
Adjustment upon RERERRE
application of ERRF16%
HKFRS 16 R 38 2 411 — — — — 411
As at 1 April 2019 RZZE-NEF
mA—H 411 20,929 25,000 5,027 658,632 709,999
Financing cash flows BEHERE (1,306) - (18,000) 9,800 = (9,506)
Early redemption of REBOAARES
convertible bonds — — - - (89,606) (89,606)
Modification of convertible & 2 A] % & %
bonds — — - — 27,749 27,749
New lease entered AUHHE 4,175 = = = = 4,175
Finance cost HHBER 116 - — 556 146,367 147,039
Asat 31 March 2020 and RZZE=-%
1 April 2020 ZA=t+-Ak
S 3
MA—H 3,396 20,929 7,000 15,383 743,142 789,850
Financing cash flows BERENE (2,405) = 13,000 = = 10,595
Finance cost HBER 127 - — 735 190,170 191,032
As at 31 March 2021 NZB-—&
=A=+-H 1,118 20,929 20,000 16,118 933,312 991,477
'S
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35.

FIFSERAR ML

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of amounts
due to the subsidiary of an associate, non-controlling
interests and former non-controlling interests, loan from
a non-controlling interest, loan from a shareholder and
convertible bonds, net of cash and cash equivalents and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
share capital and reserves. The directors of the Company
review the capital structure on an annual basis. As part of
this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through new share issues and
share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.

The Group monitors its capital structure using net debt to
equity ratio; whereby net debt comprises convertible bonds
less bank balances and cash whilst equity means the total
equity of the Group. During the year, the Group’s strategy
to maintain a healthy net debt to equity ratio has remained
unchanged, and the debt to equity ratio is 2.58 as at 31
March 2021 (2020: 1.27).

35. 54 bn B 12

AREEREAY BEARBEALE
2 B B 1 A R (LB 7 AR
ETEARRIBHBAER - ARE
TREREEBCEERETE -

AEEZENGEEBEERNBE AT
Z BT - FEFE IR & N AT IR AR
IR - RAFFIERE S B RN
mkiEs  RELREFEWHFE -
—UBRRERARARRFEE AR
s BRERAREE AARE
EEFOREREHETRE - 1ER
pigsz—#n EERRERKAK
FEBTTEEBREAERE - RE
ExvEs ARBBSREBRITH
P K [B] B B £ DA R 3% 3 (B 2 BB (@ 3R
BEBNAFEREBENERE -

AEEFRFEERaLXEERLS
A A FaEETnRESR
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MEME

RESULTS E

For the year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

BE-A=T—-HILEE
“EC--§ “Z-%F “T-NF “E-N\F

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THT THL THL THT

Revenue g 15,189 14,580 18,589 15,811 9,187
Loss for the year FNEE (212,155) (222,462) (260,911) (230,991) (178,342)

Attributable to: BB

Owners of the Company KDAEAA (204,939) (211,117 (260,272) (231,048) (169,788)
Non-controlling interests FERER (7,216) (11,345) (639) 57 (8,554)
(212,155) (222,462) (260,911) (230,991) (178,342)

'S
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I HE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2021

—E-—F
HK$’000
TERT

EERER

As at 31 March
R=B=+-H
2020 2019 2018
T2  ZT-NE \
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THAL AL BT

2017
—E—tF
HK$’000
THT

Non-current assets ERBEE 1,374,410 1,376,692 1,534,215 1,631,880 1,774,942
Current assets RBEE 28,800 42,186 44,539 82,283 76,024
Current liabilities mBERE (800,673) (70,540) (32,402) (42,953) (73,741)
Non-current liabilities FEnBEE (243,831) (780,565) (751,540) (604,385) (478,900)
Net assets BEFE 358,706 567,773 794,812 1,066,825 1,298,325
Attributable to: B
Owners of the Company ARRHEAAN (595,352) (390,373) (74,957) 196,417 427,974
Non-controlling interests FERER 954,058 958,146 869,769 870,408 870,351
Total equity gk 358,706 567,773 794,812 1,066,825 1,298,325
@9 B
._ 152 INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2021 Annual Report
ot



B

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED
WMBEREMRIRBIRASG

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability)
(RASHSEMEAZIEREREFEZARAF)
(Stock Code f%{AH5% = 399)



	Cover
	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Chairman’s Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Management Profile
	External Consultant Profile
	Corporate Governance Report
	Report of the Directors
	Independent Auditors’ Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Financial Summary
	Back Cover

